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MANAGEMENT'S REPORT
To the Shareholders of Enbridge Inc.

Financial Reporting

Management of Enbridge Inc. (the Company) is responsible for the accompanying consolidated financial
statements. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP) and necessarily include
amounts that reflect management's judgment and bast estimates.

The Board of Directors (the Board) and its committees are responsible for all aspects related to
governance of the Company. The Audit, Finance & Risk Committee (AF&RC) of the Board, composed of
directors who are unrelated and independent, has a specific responsibility to oversee management's
efforts to fulfill its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal controls related thereto. The AF&RC
meets with management, intemnat auditors and independent auditors {o review the consolidated financial
statements and the internal controls as they relate to financial reporting. The AF&RC reports its findings
to the Board for its consideration in approving the consolidated financial statements for issuancs to the
sharehoiders.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is also responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contro! over financial
reporting. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes policies and procedures to
facilitate the preparation of relevant, reliable and timely information, to prepare consolidated financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with U.S. GAAP and provide reasonable
assurance that assets are safeguarded.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controf over financial reporting as at
December 31, 2013, based on the framework established in Internal Controf - Integrated Framework
(1992) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
this assessment, management concluded that the Company maintained effective internal controt over
financial reporting as at December 31, 2013.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, independent auditors appointed by the shareholders of the Company,
conducts an examination of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted auditing standards and the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).

“signed” “signed”
Al Monaco J. Richard Bird
President & Chief Executive Officer Exscutive Vice President &

Chisf Financial Officer

February 14, 2014



Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Shareholders of Enbridge Inc.

We have completed integrated audits of Enbridge Inc.’s 2013 and 2012 consolidated financial statements
and its internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2013 and an audit of its 2011
consolidated financial statements. Our opinions, based on our audits, are presented below.

Report on the consolidated financial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Enbridge Inc., which comprise
the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the
consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended Decemmber 31, 2013, and the related notes, which comprise a summary
of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s responsibility for the consolidated financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards and the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement. Canadian generally accepted anditing standards
also require that we comply with ethical requirements.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence, on a test basis, about the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers
internal control relevant to the company’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting principles and policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide
a basis for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements. :

Opinion

in our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Enbridge Inc. as at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012 and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2013 in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Report on internal control over financial reporting

We have also audited Enbridge Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as at December 31, 2013,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (1992), issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). '




Management’s responsibility for internal control over financial reporting

Management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
management’s report on internal control over financial reporting.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting
based on our audit. We conducted our audit of internal control over financial reporting in accordance with
the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

An aundit of internal control over financial reporting includes obtaining an understanding of internal
control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, based on the assessed risk, and performing
such other procedures as we consider necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our audit opinion on the company’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Definition of internal control over financial reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (i) pertain to the
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reascnable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the
company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent limitations

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

In our opinion, Enbridge Inc. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as at December 31, 2013, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework (1992) issued by COSO. .

W@M Lr

Chartered Accountants
Calgary, Alberta, Canada
February 14, 2014



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Year ended December 31, , 2013 2012 . 2011
{millions of Canadian doflars, except per share amounts)

Revenues
Commodity sales 18494 20,374
Gas distribution sales 1,910 4,808

Transportation and other services

4,256 4,509
4.63"50""""‘gs’.,7€“'.9

Expenses
Commodity costs 17,959 19627
Gas distribution costs 1,220 1,281
Operating and administrative 2,739 2,289

Depreciation and amortization 1,236

Environmental costs, net of recoveries (Note 29)

1,147

income from equity investments (Note 12)
Other income/{expense) (Nots 26)
interest expense (Note 17)

Income taxes (Note 24)

Barnings from continuing operations

Discontinued operations (Note 10)
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations before income taxes
Income taxes (expense)recovery from discontinued operations

Eamings/(loss) from discontinued operations

Eamings before extraordinary loss

Extraordinary loss, net of tax (Note 6)

Bamings

{Eamings)/loss attributable to noncontrolling interests and redeemable

noncontrolling interests

Bamings attributable to Enbridge Inc.

Preference share dividends

Earnings attributable to Enbridge Ine. common shareholders

Eamings attributable to Enbridge Inc. common shareholders
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax
Extracrdinary loss, net of tax (Note 6)

Eamings per commen share attributable to Enbridge Inc. common
shareholders (Note 20)
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Extraordinary item

Diluted eamings per common share attributable to Enbridge Inc.
common shareholders (Note 20)°
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Extraordinary item

. The accompanying notes are an intagral part of these consolidated financial statements. )
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Year ended December 31, 7 2013 2012 2011
(millions of Canadian dollars) ;
Bamings 936 1,221

Other comprehensive income/(foss), net of tax

Change in unrealized gains/(loss) on cash flow hedges (176)  (582)

Change in unrealized gains/(loss) on net investment hedges 13 {19)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) from equity investess 2 {17)
Reclassification to earnings of realized cash flow hedges 7 14
Reclassification to eamings of unrealized cash flow hedges 20 12
Reclassification to earnings of pension plans and other postretirement
benefits amortization amounts 18 21
Actuarial gains/(loss) on pension plans and other postretirement benefits : (58) (165)
Change in foreign currency translation adjustment | 158 144
Qther comprehensive income/(loss) — S (330) (59
Comprehensive income ; 608 829

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests
_and redeamabie noncontrolling interests
Comprehansive income attributable to Enbridge Inc.
Preferance share dividends
Gomprehensive income attributable to Enbridge Inc. common shareholder.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

(185) (327
441 30%L

105 13
338 289




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Year ended December 31, _ 2013 2012 . 2011
{miltions of Canadian dollars, excep! per share amounts} i)
Preference shares (Notg 20)

Balance at beginning of year 1,068 125

Preference shares issuad 2,681 3
Balance at end of year 3,70 1,056
Common shares (Nofe 20}

Balance at beginning of year 3,969 3,683

Common shares issued 388 -

Dividend reinvestment and share purchase plan 297 229

Shares issued on exercise of stock options ) 78 57
Balance at end of year 4732 3,969
Additiona! paid-in capital

Balance at beginning of year 242 13

Stock-based compensation 26 18

Options exercised (17 {7}

Issuance of treasury stock (Note 12) 236 -

Dilution gains and other 38 100
Balance at end of year 522 242
Retained eamings

Balance at baginning of year 3,643 3,729

Eamings attributable to Enbridge Inc. o7 814

Preference share dividends {105) {13)

Common share dividends declarad {895) {159}

Dividends paid to reciprocal sharehclder 20 25

Redemption value adjustment attributable to redesmable noncontrolling

interests {Note 19) ‘ (197) {153)

Balance at end of year 3173 3,643
Accumuiated other comprehensive loss (Nofe 22)

Balance at heginning of year {t 763}} {1,496) (984)

Other comprehensive income/{loss) attributable to Enbridge Inc. commaon

shareholders — L] 16% (268) (512),

Balance at end of year {1,762)  (1,496)
Reciprocal sharsholding (Note 12)

Batance at beginning of year (18T) (154)

Issuance of treasury stock 61 .

Acquisition of equity investment - (33)

(i28) __(187)
10246 7,227

Balance at end of year
Total Enbridge inc. shargholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests (Note 19)

Balance at beginning of year 3, 253 * 3,141 2424
Eamings/(loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (111) 241 416
Other comprehensive income/{loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests, t
net of tax
Change in unrealized gains/(loss) on cash flow hedges (39) (84)
Change in foreign currency transiation adjustment {60) 68
Reclassification to eamings of realized cash flow hedges 23 (63)
Reclassification to sarmings of unraalized cash flow hedges 13 4,
o (63) {0
Comprehensive incoma attributable to noncontrolling interests 178 .. 339
Distributions ' 421y (355)
Contributions 382 738
Ditution gains 8 22
Acquisitions (Note 7} (25) (2N
Other 3» 3
Balance at end of year 3258 3,141
Total equity 3 13,504 10,368

Dividends paid per common share 1.13 _ 0.9%_:_

The accompanying noles are an intagral part of these consohdated ﬁnanc:al statemeonts.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011

{miflions of Canadian doilars) -
Operating activities
Eamings 494} 938 1,221
(Earnings)loss from discontinued operations {4)% 79 6
Depraciation and amortization $,370 1,236 1,147
Deferred income taxes (Note 24) 3 3 365
Changes in unrealized {gains)ioss on derivative instruments, net 1,262 685 (73)
Cash distributions in excess of equity eamings 358 439 102
Regulatory asset write-off (Nots 6) - - 262
Impairment ] 39 1
Other {9 109 11
Changes in regulatory assets and liabilities {11) 44 38
Changes in environmental liabilities, net of recoveries (Note 29) 148 {28) (118)
Changas in operating assets and liabilities {Note 27) {409) (660) 401
Cash provided by continuing operations 33337 2864 33713
Cash provided by/(used in) discontinued operations (Note 10) 8 10 2
341 2874 3371
investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (8,235  (5,194) (3,521

Long-term investments
Additions to intangible assets

{1,018): {631y (1,515)
. (212) (163) (154)

Acquisitions, net of cash acquired (Note 7) - {340y (33)
Affiliate loans, net 8 8 7
Proceeds on sale of investments and net assets 41 18 -
Government grant - - 145

Changes in restricted cash (15). _ (2) (2

| (9431)_(5.304) _(5.079)

Financing activities
Net change in bank indebtedness and short-term borrowings
Net change in commercial paper and credit facility draws
Net change in Southemn Lights project financing
Debenture and term note issues
Debenture and term note repayments

. (350) 412 224
1,862 (294)  (630)
/(13 (62)
2845 2199 1,604
{660)  (349)  (234)

Repaymaent of acquired debt - {160) -
Contributions from noncontrolling interests 922 448 873
Distributions to noncontrolling interests . {468) (421) {355)
Contributions from redeemable noncontrolling interests 92 213 210

Distributions {o redeemable noncontrolling interests
Preference shares issued

Common shares issued

Preference share dividends

Common share dividends

(35)

Effact of ransiation of Toreign dSnoniinaled cash and cash SRUNVAIEH,
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

- Cash and cash equivalents at end of year ‘

Supplementary cash flow information
income taxes (received)/paid
{interast paid

Tha accompanying nofas are an mtegra! pan of theso oansohdarod fi nancia! srafemsnts



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

December 31, 2013 2012
{miflions of Canadian doflars; number of shares in millions) ' ]
Assats
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts recaivable and other (Note 8§
Accounts recaivable from affiliates
Inventory (Nots 9)
Assets held for sale (Note 10}

Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 10)
Long-term investments (Nofe 12)

Deferred amounts and other assets (Note 13)
intangible assets, net (Nofs 14

Goodwill (Vote 15)

Deferred income taxes (Note 24)

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
Bank indebtedness
Short-term borrowings (Note 17)
Accounts payable and other (Note 16)
Accounts payable to affiliates
interest payable
Environmental liabilities (Note 29)
Current maturities of long-term debt (Nots 17)
Liahilities held for saie (Note 10)

Long-term debt (Note 17)

Other long-term liabilities (Nots 18)
Deferred income taxes (Note 24)
Liabilities held for sale (Note 10)

Commitments and contingencias (Nofe 29)
Redeemable noncontrolling interests (Note 19)
Equity
Share capital (Note 20)
Preference shares . _
Common shares (831 and 805 outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively)
Additicnal paid-in capital

Retained eamings
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (Note 22) . (1,762)
Reciprocal shareholding (Note 12) e tes oot — e AOBE (126

Total Enbridge Inc. shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests (Note 19}

The accompanying notes are an integral paft_ of these conéolfdatgd financial statements.

Approved by the Board of Directors:

David A. Arledge . ' David A. Lesiie

‘Chair SR “Director
.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

€nbridge Inc. (Enbridge or the Company) is a publicly traded energy transportation and distribution
company. Enbridge conducts its business through five business segments; Liquids Pipelines; Gas
Distribution; Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services; Sponsored Investments and Corporate.
These operating segments are strategic business units established by senior management to facilitate the
achievement of the Company’s long-term objectives, o aid in resource aliocation decisions and to assess
oparational performance.

LIQUIDS PIPELINES

Liquids Pipelines consists of common carrier and contract crude oil, natural gas liquids (NGL) and refined
products pipelines and terminals in Canada and the United States, including Canadian Mainline, Regional
Oil Sands System, Southem Lights Pipeline, Seaway Pipsline, Spearhead Pipeline, Feeder Pipelines and
Other.

GAS DISTRIBUTION

Gas Distribution consists of the Company’s natural gas utility operations, the core of which is Enbridge Gas
Distribution Inc. (EGD) which serves residential, commercial and industrial customers, primarily in central
and eastem Ontario as well as northern New York State. This business segment also includes natural gas
distribution activities in Quebec and New Brunswick.

GAS PIPELINES, PROCESSING AND ENERGY SERVICES

Gas Pipslines, Processing and Energy Services consists of investments in natural gas pipelings, gathering
and processing facilities and the Company’s energy services businesses, along with renewable energy and
transmission facilities,

Investments in natural gas pipelines include the Company's interests in the United States portion of the
Alliance System (Alliance Pipeline US), the Vector Pipeline (Vector) and transmission and gathering
pipelines in the Gulf of Mexico. Investments in natural gas processing include the Company’s interest in Aux
Sable, a natural gas fractionation and extraction business located near the terminus of the Alliance System.
The energy services businesses undertake physical commodity marketing activities and logistical services,
refinery supply services and manage the Company’s volume commitments on the Alliance System, Vedtor
and other pipeline systems.

SPONSORED INVESTMENTS
-Sponsored investments includes the Company’s 20.6% (2012 - 21.8%) ownership interest in Enbridge
Energy Partners, L.P. (EEP), Enbridge’s 66.7% (2012 - 66.7%) investment in the United States segment
of the Alberta Clipper Project through EEP and Enbridge Energy, Limited Partnership and an overail
87.3% (2012 - 67.7%) economic interest in Enbridge Income Fund (the Fund), held both directly and
indirectly through Enbridge income Fund Holdings inc. (ENF). Enbridge, through its subsidiaries,
manages the day-to-day operations of and develops and assesses opportunities for each of these
investments, including both organic growth and acquisition opportunities. ' -

EEP transports crude oit and other liguid hydrocarbons through common carrier and feeder pipelines,
including the Lakehead Pipeline System (Lakehead System) which is the United States portion of the
Enbridge mainline system, and transports, gathers, processes and markets natural gas and NGL. The
primary operations of the Fund include renewable power generation, crude oit and liquids pipeline and
storage businesses in western Ganada and a 50% interest in the Canadian portion of the Alliance System
(Alliance Pipeline Canada). a ' ' ' '

CORPORATE | o | R
- Corporate consists of the Company’s investment in Noverco inc. (Noverco), new business development
- activities, general corporate investments and finanicing costs not allocated to the business segments.



2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles gsnerally
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GAAP). Amounts are stated in Canadian dolflars uniess
otherwise noted.

The Company commenced reporting using U.S. GAAP as its primary basis of accounting effective
January 1, 2012, including restatement of comparative periods. As a Securities and Exchange
Commission {SEC) registrant, the Company is permitted to use U.S. GAAP for purposes of meeting both
its Canadian and United States continuous disclosure reguirements.

BASIS OF PRESENTATION AND USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management {0 make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses,
as well as the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements.
Significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements
include, but are not limited to: carrying values of reguiatory assets and liabilities (Note 8); unbilled revenues
(Note 8); allowance for doubtful accounts (Note 8); depreciation rates and carrying value of property, piant
and equipment (Note 10); amortization rates of intangible assets (Note 14); measurement of goodwill (Note 15);
valuation of stock-based compensation (Note 21); fair value of financial instruments (Note 23); provisions for
income taxes (Note 24); assumptions used to measure retirement and other postretirement benefit
obligations (OPEB) (Nots 25); commitments and contingencies (Note 29); fair value of asset retirement
obligations (AROQY); and estimates of losses related to environmental remediation abligations (Note 29).
Actual results could differ from these estimates.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Enbridge, its subsidiaries and a variable
interest entity (VIE) for which the Company is the primary beneficiary. The consolidated financial statements
also include the accounts of any fimited partnerships where the Company represents the general partner
and, based on ali facts and circumstances, controls such limited partnerships. For certain investments
where the Company retains an undivided interest in assets and liabilities, Enbridge records its
propottionate share of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated upon consolidation. Ownership
interests in subsidiaries represented by other parties that do not control the entity are presented in the
consolidated financial statements as activities and balances attributable to noncontrolling interests and
redeemable noncontrolling interests, Investments and entities over which the Company exercises significant
influence are accounted for using the equity method.

REGULATION

Certain of the Company’s businesses are subject to regulation by various authorities including, but not
limited to, the National Energy Board (NEB), the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC), the
Alberta Energy Regulator, the New Brunswick Energy and Utilities Board (EUB), and the Ontario Energy
Board (OEB). Regulatory bodies exercise statutory authority over matters such as construction, rates and
ratemaking and agreements with customers. To recognize the economic effects of the actions of the
regulator, the timing of recognition of certain revenues and expenses in these operations may differ from
that otherwise expected under U.S. GAAP for non rate-regulated entities.

Regulatory assets represent amounts that are expected to be recovered from customers in future periods
through rates. Regulatory liabilities represent amounts that are expected to be refunded to customers in
future periods through rates. Long-term regulatory assets are recorded in Deferred amounts and other
assets and current regulatory assets are recorded in Accounts receivable and other. Long-term regulatory
liabilities are included in Other long-term liabilities and current regulatory liabilities are recorded in Accounts
payable and other. Regulatory assets are assessed for impaiment if the Company identifies an event
indicative of possible impairment, The recognition of regulatory assets and liabilities is based on the actions,
or expected future actions, of the reguiator. To the extent that the regulator’s actions differ from the N
Company’s expectations, the timing and amount of recovery or settiement of regulatory balances could '

differ significantly from those recorded. In the absence of rate regulation, the Company would generallynot =~
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recognize regulatory assets or liabilities and the earnings impact would be recorded in the period the
expenses are incurred or revenues are eamed. A regulatory asset or liability is recognized in respect of
deferred income taxes when it is expected the amounts will be recovered or settled through future reguiator-
approved rates.

Allowance for funds used during construction (AFUDC) is included in the cost of property, plant and
equipment and is depreciated over future periods as part of the total cost of the related asset. ARUDC
includes both an interest component and, if approved by the regulator, a cost of equity component which are
both capitalized based on rates set out in a regulatory agreement. In the absence of rate regulation, the
Company would capitalize interest using a capitalization rate based on its cost of borrowing and the
capitalized equity component, the corresponding eamings during the construction phase and the
subsequent depreciation would not be recognized.

For certain regulated operations to which U.S. GAAP guidance for phase-in plans applies, negotiated
depreciation rates recovered in transportation tolls may be less than the depreciation expense calculated in
accordance with U.S. GAAP in early years of long-term contracts but recovered in future periods when tolls
exceed depreciation. Depreciation expense on such assets is recorded in accordance with U.S. GAAP and
no deferred regulatory asset is recorded Note 4).

With the approval of the regulator, EGD arx certain distribution operations capitalize a percentage of certain
operating costs. These operations are authorized to charge depreciation ard eam a return on the net book
value of such capitalized costs in future years. To the extent that the regutator's actions differ from the
Company’s expectations, the timing and amount of recovery or settlement of capitalized costs could differ
significantly from those recorded. in the absence of rate regulation, a portion of such costs may be charged
to current period earnings.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

For businesses which are not rate-regulated, revenuss are recorded when products have been delivered
or services have been performed, the amount of revenue can be relfiably measured and collectabifity is
reasonably assured. Customer credit worthiness is assessed prior to agreement signing as well as
throughout the contract duration. Certain Liquids Pipelines revenues are recognized under the terms of
committed delivery contracts rather than the cash tolls received.

Long-term take-or-pay contracts, under which shippers are obligated to pay fixed amounts ratably over
the contract period regardiess of volumes shippad, may contain make-up rights. Make-up fights are
earned by shippers when minimum volume commitments ars not utifized during the period but under
certain circumstances can be used to offset overages in future periods, subject to expiry periods. The
Company recognizes revenues associated with make-up rights at the earlier of when the make-up volume
is shipped, the make-up right expires or when it is determined that the likelihood that the shipper will
utilize the make-up right is remote.

For rate-regulated businesses, revenues are recognized in a manner that is consistent with the underlying
agreements as approved by the regulators. From July 1, 2011 onward, Canadian Mainline (excluding
Lines 8 and 9) earnings are govemed by the Competitive Toll Settiement (CTS), under which revenues
are recorded when services are performed. Effective on that date, the Company prospectively
discontinued the application of rate-regulated accounting for those assets with the axception of flow-
through income taxes covered by a specific rate order.

For natural gas utility rate-regulated operations in Gas Distribution, revenues are recognized in a manner
consistent with the underlying rate-setting mechanism as mandated by the regulator. Natural gas utilities
revenues are recorded on the basis of regular meter readings and estimates of customer usage from the
tast meter reading to the end of the reporting period. Estimates are based on historical consumption
patterns and heating degree days experienced. Heating degres days is a measure of coldness that is
indicative of volumetric requirements for natural gas utilized for heating purposes in the Company’s
distribution franchise area.
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For natural gas and marketing businesses, an estimate of revenues and commodity costs for the month
of December is included in the Consolidated Statements of Bamings for each year based on the best
available volume and price data for the commodity delivered and received.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS AND HEDGING

Non-qualitying Derivatives

Non-qualifying derivative instruments are used primarily to economically hedge foreign exchange, interest
rate and commodity price earnings exposure. Non-qualifying derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in eamings in Transportation and other services revenues, Commodity
costs, Operating and administrative expense, Other income/(expense) and Interest expenss.

Derivatives in Qualifying Hedging Relationships

The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to changes in commodity
prices, foreign exchange rates, interest rates and certain compensation tied to its share price. Hedge
accounting is optional and requires the Company to document the hedging relationship and test the
hedging item’s effectivenass in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the underlying hedged
item on an ongoing basis. The Company prasents the earmings sffects of hedging items with the hedged
transaction. Derivatives in qualifying hedging relationships are categorized as cash flow hedges, fair
value hedges and net investiment hedges.

Cash Flow Hedges

The Company uses cash flow hedges to manage its exposure to changes in commodity prices, foreign
exchange rates, interest rates and cettain compensation tied to its share price. The effective portion of
the change in the fair value of a cash flow hedging instrument is recorded in Other comprehensive
income/(loss) (OCI) and is reclassified to earnings when the hedged item impacts earnings. Any hedge
ineffectivenass is recorded in current period eamings.

If a derivative instrument designated as a cash flow hedge ceases to be effective or is terminated, hedge
accounting is discontinued and the gain or loss at that date is deferred in OCI and recognized
concurrently with the related transaction. If a hedged anticipated transaction is no longer probable, the
gain or loss is recognized immediately in eamings. Subsequent gains and losses from derivative
instruments for which hedge accounting has been discontinued are recognized in eamings in the period
in which they occur.

Fair Value Hedges

The Company may use fair value hedges to hedge the fair value of debt instruments or commaodity
positions. The change in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recorded in eamnings with changes in
the fair value of the hedged asset or liabiiity that is designated as part of the hedging relationship. If a fair
value hedge is discontinued or ceases to be effective, the hedged asset or liability, otherwise required to
be carried at cost or amontized cost, ceases to be remeasured at fair value and the cumulative fair vaius
adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item is recognized in eamings over the remaining life of
the hedged item. The Company did not have any fair value hedges at December 31, 2013 or 2012.

Net Investment Hedges

The Company uses net investment hedges to manage its exposure to changes in the carrying values of
United States dottar denominated foreign operations. The effective portion of the change in the fair value
of the hadging instrument is recorded in OCI. Any ineffectiveness is recorded in current period eamings.
Amounts recorded in Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) (AOCI) are recognized in @amings
when there is a reduction of the hedged net investment resulting from a disposal of the foreign operation.

Classification of Darivatives

The Company recognizes the fair market value of derivative instruments on the Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position as current and long-term assets or liabilities depending on the timing of the
settlements and the resulting cash flows associated with the instruments. Fair value amounts related to
cash flows occurring beyond one year are classified as non-current.

Gash inftows and outflows related to derivative instruments are classified as Operating activities onthe ..
Consolidated Staternents of Cash Fiows.
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Balance Sheet Offset
Assets and liabilities arising from derivative instruments may be offset in the Consolidated Statements of
Financial Position when the Company has the legal right and intention o settie them on a net basis.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs are incremental costs directly related to the acquisition of a financial asset or the
issuance of a financial liability. The Company incurs transaction costs primarily through the issuance of
debt and classifies these costs as Deferred amounts and other assets. These costs are amortized using
the effective interest rate method over the life of the related debt instrument.

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Equity investments over which the Company exercises significant influence, but does not have controlling
financial interests, are accounted for using the equity method. Bquity investments are initially measured at
cost and are adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of undistributed equity earnings or joss.
Equity investments are increased for contributions made to and decreased for distributions received from
the investees. To the extent an equity investee undertakes activities necassary 1o commence its planned
principal operations, the Company capitalizes interest costs associated with its investment during such
period.

OTHER INVESTMENTS

Generally, the Company classifies equity investments in entities over which it does not exercise
significant influence and that do not trade on an actively quoted market as other investments carried at
cost. Financial assets in this category are initially recorded at fair value with no subsequent re-
measurement. Any investments which do trade on an active market are classified as available for sale
investments measured at fair value through OCI. Dividends received from investments carried at cost are
recognized in earnings when the right to receive payment is established.

NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

Noncontrolling interests represent ownership interests attributable to third parties in certain consolidated
subsidiaries, limited partnerships and VIEs. The portion of equity in entities not owned by the Company is
reflected as noncontrolling interests within the equity section of the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Paosition and, in the case of redeemable noncontrolling interests, within the mezzanine section of the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position between fong-term liabilities and aquity.

The Fund's noncontrolling interest holders have the option to redeem the Fund trust units for cash,
subject to certain limitations. Redeemable noncontrolling interests are recognized at the maximum
redemption value of the trust units held by third parties, which references the market price of ENF
common shares. On a quarterly basis, changes in estimated redemption valuas are reflected as a charge
or credit {o retained earnings.

INCOME TAXES

The liability method of accounting for income taxes Is foitowed. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities
are recorded based on temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying values for accounting purposes. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured using
the tax rate that is expected to apply when the temporary differences raverse. Any interest and/or penaity
incurred related to tax is reflected in Income taxes.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS AND TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are those transactions whose terms are denominated in a currency other
than the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company or a reporting subsidiary
operates, referred to as the functional currency. Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the date of transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency

. using the rate of exchange in effect at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses resulting from
transiation of monetary assets and liabilities are included in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings in

- the period in which they arise. g
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Gains and losses arising from translation of foreign operations’ functional currencies to the Company's
Canadian dollar presentation currency are included in the cumulative transiation adjustment component
of AOC! and are recognized in earnings upon sale of the foreign operation. Asset and liability accounts
are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date, while revenuses and expenses
are translated using monthiy average exchange rates.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents inciude short-term investments with a term to maturity of three months or lass
when purchased.

RESTRICTED CASH

Cash and cash equivalents that are restricted as to withdrawal or usage, in accordance with specific
customer agreements, are presented as Restricted cash on the Consolidated Statements of Financial
Position.

LOANS AND RECEIVABLES
Affiliate long-term notes receivable are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate
method, net of any impairment losses recognized. Accounts receivable and other are measurad at cost.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL ACCOUNTS

Aliowance for doubtful accounts is determined based on collection history. When the Company has
determined that further collection afforts are uniikely to be successful, amounts charged o the allowance
for doubtful accounts are applied against the impaired accounts receivable.

INVENTORY

Inventory is comprised of natural gas in storage hetd in EGD and ¢rude oil and natural gas held primarily
by energy setvices businesses. Natural gas in storage in EGD is recorded at the quarterly prices
approved by the OEB in the determination of distribution rates. The actual price of gas purchased may
differ from the OEB approved price. The difference between the approved price and the actual cost of the
gas purchased is deferred as a Hability for future refund or as an asset for collection as approved by the
OEB. Other commadities inventory is recorded at the lower of cost, as determined on a weighted average
basis, or markat vailue. Upon disposition, other commodities inventory is recorded to Commodity costs in
the Consolidated Statements of Barnings at the weighted average cost of inventory, including any
adjustments recorded to reduce inventory to market value.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Praperty, plant and equipment is recorded at historical cost. Expenditures for construction, expansion,
major renewals and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Expenditures for project development are capitalized if they are expected to have future benefit. The
Company capitalizes interast incurred during construction for non rate-regulated assets. For rate-
regulated assets, AFUDC is included in the cost of property, plant and equipment and is depreciated over
future periods as part of the total cost of the related asset. AFUDC includes both an interest component
and, if approved by the reguiator, a cost of equity component.

Two primary methods of depreciation are utilized. For distinct assets, depreciation is generally provided
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets commencing when the asset is
placed in service. For largely homogeneous groups of assets with comparable useful lives, the pool
method of accounting for property, plant and equipment is foliowed whereby similar assets are grouped and
depreciated as a pool. When those assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, gains and losses are not
reflected in @amings but are booked as an adjustment to accumulated depreciation,

DEFERRED AMOUNTS AND OTHER ASSETS

Deferred amounts and other assets primarily include: costs which regulatory authorities have permitted,
or are expected to permit, to be recovered through future rates including deferred income taxes;
contractual receivables under the terms of long-term detlivery contracts; derivative financial instruments;

and deferred financing costs. Deferred financing costs are amortized using the effective interest method .

over the term of the related debt and are recorded in Interest expense.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist primarily of acquired long-term transportation or power purchase agreements,
natural gas supply opportunities and certain software costs. Natural gas supply opportunities are growth
opportunities, identified upon acquisition, present in gas producing zones where certain of EEP’s gas
systems are located. The Company capitalizes costs incurred during the application development stage
of internal use software projects. Intangible assets are amortized on a straight-fine basis aver their
expected lives, commencing when the asset is available for use.,

GOODWILL

Goodwilt represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net identifiable assets on
acquisition of a business. The carrying value of goodwi], which is not amortized, is assessed for
impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances arise that suggest the
carrying value of goodwill may be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, reporting units are identified as business operations within an
operating segment. The Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it
is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test. if the two-stap goodwill impairment test is
performed, the first step involves determining the fair value of the Company's reporting units inclusive of
goodwill and comparing those values to the carrying value of each reporting unit. If the carrying value of a
reporting unit, including allocated goodwill, exceeds its fair vaiue, goodwill impairment is measured as the
excess of the carrying amount of the reporting unit's allocated goodwill over the implied fair value of the
goodwill based on the fair value of the reporting unit's assets and fiabilities.

IMPAIRMENT

The Company reviews the carrying values of its long-lived assets as events or changes in circumstances
warrant. If it is determined that the carrying value of an asset exceeds the undiscounted cash flows
expected from the assat, the asset is written down to fair value.

With respect to investments in debt and equity securities, the Company assesses at each balance sheet
date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired by completing a quantitative or
quaiitative analysis of factors impacting the investment. if there is determined to be objective evidence of
impairment, the Company internally values the expected discounted cash flows using observable market
inputs and determines whether the decline below carrying value is other than temporary. if the decline is
determined to be other than temporary, an impairment charge is recorded in earnings with an offsetting
reduction to the carrying value of the asset.

With respect to other financial assets, the Company assesses the assets for impaiment when it no longer
has reasonable assurance of timely collection. If evidence of impairment is noted, the Company reduces
the value of the financial asset to its estimated realizable amount, determined using discounted expected
future cash flows.

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS

AROQ associated with the retirement of long-lived assets are measured at fair value and recognized as
Other long-term liabilities in the period in which they can be reasonably determined. The fair value
approximates the cost a third party would charge to perform the tasks necessary to retire such assets and
is recognized at the present value of expected future cash flows. ARO are added to the carrying value of
the associated asset and depreciated over the asset's useful life. The comresponding liability is accreted
over time through charges to eamings and is reduced by actual costs of decommissioning and
reclamation. The Company’s estimates of retirement costs could change as a resuit of changes in cost
astimates and regulatory requirements. '

For the maijority of the Company’s assets, it is not possible to make a reasonable gstimate of ARO dueto
the indeterminate timing and scope of the asset retirements. : :
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RETIREMENT AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Company maintains pension plans which provide defined benefit and defined contribution pension
benefits.

Defined benefit pension plan costs are determined using actuarial methods and are funded through
contributions determined using the projected benefit method, which incorporates management's best
estimates of future salary levels, other cost escalations, retirement ages of employees and other actuarial
factors including discount rates and mortality. For the Liguids Pipelines and Gas Distribution pension
plans (collectively, the Canadian Plans}, in 2013 new mortality assumptions were adopted by the
Company for measurement of the December 31, 2013 benefit obligations, moving from the tables
previously issued by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries to the proposed revised tables. The Company
determines discount rates by referance to rates of high-quality long-term corporate bonds with maturities
that approximate the timing of future payments the Company anticipates making under each of the
respeactive plans. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company refined the methodology by
which it determines discount rates for its Canadian Plans, in particular, refining the method by which it
estimates spreads for bonds with longer term maturities. Pension cost is charged to eamnings and
includas:
« Costof pension plan benefits provided in exchange for employee services rendered during the
year,
« Amortization of the prior service costs and amendments on a straight-line basis over the expected

average remaining service period of the active smployee group covered by the plans;

interast cost of pension plan obligations;

Expected return on pension fund assets; and

Amortization of cumulative unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses in excess of 10% of the

greater of the accrued benefit obligation or the fair value of plan assets, over the expected

average remaining service life of the active employae group covered by the plans.

Actuarial gains and losses arise from the difference between the actual and expected rate of return on
plan assets for that period or from changes in actuarial assumptions used to determine the accrued
benefit obligation, including discount rate, changes in headcount or salary inflation experience.

Pension plan assets are measured at fair value. The expected retum on pension plan assets is
determined using market related values and assumptions on the specific invested asset mix within the
pension plans. The market related vaiues reflect estimated retum on investments consistent with long-
term historical averages for similar assets.

For defined contribution plans, contributions made by the Company are expensed in the period in which
the contribution occurs.

The Company also provides OPEB other than pensions, including group heaith care and life insurance
benefits for eligible retirees, their spouses and qualified dependents. The cost of such henefits is accrued
during the years in which employees render service.

The overfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit pension and OPEB plans is recognized as
Deferrad amounts and other assets or Other long-term liabllities, respectively, on the Consolidated
Statements of Financial Position. A plan's funded status is measured as the difference between the fair
vaiue of plan assets and the plan’s projected benefit obligation. Any unrecognized actuarial gains and
losses and prior service costs and credits that arise during the period are recognized as a component of
QCI, net of tax.

Ceriain regulated utility operations of the Company expect to recover pension expense in future rates and
therefore record a corresponding regulatory asset to the extent such recovery is deemed to be probable.
For years prior to 2012, a regulatory asset related to EGD's OPEB obligation was not recorded given
recovery in rates was not probable. Commencing in 2012, pursuant to a specific rate order altowing BGD
to recover OPEB costs determined on an accrual basis in rates, a corresponding regulatory asset was
recognized. In the absence of rate regulation, regulatory balances would not be recorded and pension
and OPER costs would be charged to eamings and OCI on an accrual basis.
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STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

Incentive Stock Options (I1SO) granted are recorded using the fair value method. Under this method,
compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the 1SO granted as
calculated by the Black-Scholes-Merton model and is recognized on a straight-line basis over the shorter
of the vesting period or the period to early retirement eligibility, with a corresponding credit to Additional
paid-in capital. Balances in Additional paid-in capital are transferred to Share capital when the options are
exercised.

Performance based stock options (PBSO) granted are recorded using the fair value method. Under this
method, compensation expense is measured at the grant date based on the fair value of the PBSO
granted as calculated by the Bloomberg barrier option valuation model and is recognized over the vesting
period with a corresponding credit to Additional paid-in capital. The options become exercisable when
both performance targets and time vesting requirements have been met. Balances in Additional paid-in
capital are transferred to Share capital when the options are exercised,

Performance Stock Units (PSU) and Restricted Stock Units (RSU) are cash settied awards for which the
refated liability is remeasured each reporting period. PSUs vest at the completion of a three-year term
and RSU vest at the completion of a 35-month term. During the vesting term, compensation expensa is
recorded based on the number of units outstanding and the current market price of the Company’s shares
with an offset to Accounts payable and other or to Other long-term liabilities. The value of the PSU is also
dependent on the Company’s performance relative to performance targets set out under the plan.

COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES AND ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

The Company expenses or capitalizes, as appropriate, expenditures for ongoing compliance with
environmental regulations that relate to past or current operations, The Company axpenses costs
incurred for remediation of existing environmental contamination caused by past operations that do not
benefit future periods by preventing or eliminating future contamination. The Company records liabilities
for environmental matters when assessments indicate that remediation efforts are probable and the costs
can be reasonably estimated. Estimates of environmental liabilities are based on currently available facts,
existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations taking into consideration the likely effects
of inflation and other factors. These amounts also consider prior experience in remediating contaminated
sites, other companies’ clean-up experience and data released by government organizations. The
Company’s estimates are subject to revision in future periods based on actual costs or new information
and are included in Environmental fiabilities and Other long-term liabilities in the Consolidated Statements
of Financial Position at their undiscounted amounts. There is always a potential of incurring additional
costs in connection with environmental liabilities due to variations in any or all of the categories dascribed
above, including modified or revised requirements from regulatory agencies, in addition to fines and
penalties, as well as expenditures associated with litigation and settlement of claims. The Company
evaluates recoveries from insurance coverage separately from the liability and, when recovery is
probable, the Company records and reports an asset separately from the associated liability in the
Consclidated Statements of Financial Position.

Liabilities for other commitments and contingencies are recognized when, after fully analyzing available
information, the Company determines it is either probable that an asset has been impaired, or that a
liability has been incurred, and the amount of impairment or 10ss can be reasonably estimated. When a
range of probable loss can be estimated, the Company recognizes the most likely amount, or if no
amount is more likely than another, the minimum of the range of probable loss is accrued. The Company
expenses legal costs associated with loss contingencies as such costs are incurred.
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3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

ADOPTION OF NEW STANDARDS

Balance Sheet Offsetting

Effective January 1, 2013, the Company adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2011-11 and ASU
2013-01, which require enhancsd disclosures on the effect or potential effect of netting arrangements on
an entity’s financial position. As the adoption of these updates impacted disclosure only, there was no
impact to the Company's consolidated financial position for the current or prior periods presented.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Effective January 1, 2013, the Company adopted ASU 2013-02, which requires enhanced disclosuras on
amounts rectassified out of AOCI. As the adoption of this update impacted disclosure only, there was no
impact to the Company's consolidated financial statements for the current or prior periods presented.

Presantation of Unrecognized Tax Benafits

Effective Dacember 31, 2013, the Company elected to early adopt ASU 201311, which requires
prasentation of unrecognized tax benefits as a reduction to a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss
carryforward unless specific conditions exist. There was no material impact to the consolidated financial
statements for the current or prior periods presented as a result of adopting this update.

FUTURE ACCOUNTING POLICY CHANGES

Obligations Resulting from Joint and Several Liability Arrangements

ASU 2013-04 was issued in February 2013 and provides both measurement and disclosure guidance for
obligations with fixed amounts at a reporting data resulting from joint and several liability arrangements.
The adoption of the pronouncement is not anticipated to have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements. This accounting update is effactive for annual and interim periods
beginning after December 15, 2013 and is to be applied retrospectively.

Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment

ASU 2013-05 was issued in March 2013 and provides guidance on the timing of release of the cumulative
translation adjustment into net income when a disposition or ownership change occurs related to an
investment in a foreign entity or a husiness within a foreign entity. The adoption of the pronouncement is
not anticipated to have a material impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements. This
accounting update is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2013 and is to
be applied prospectively.

4. REVISION OF PRIOR PERIOD FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In connection with the preparation of the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the three
months encied March 31, 2013, an error was identified in the manner in which the Company recorded
deferred reguiatory assets associated with the difference between depreciation expense calculated in
accordance with U.S. GAAP -and negotiated depreciation rates recovered in transportation tolls for certain
of its regulated operations. Further, to the extent the deferred regulatory asset gave rise to temporary
differences, an offsetting regulatory asset with respect to deferred income taxes was also recognized.
During the three months ended Septembaer 30, 2013, the Company identified that certain intercompany
commodity sales and commodity purchase transactions within Energy Services were not appropriately
eliminated upon consolidation. This presentation matter had no effect on the margin, eamings or cash
flows for any prior period.

In accordance with accounting guidance found in Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 250-10 (SEC
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 99, Materiality), the Company assessed the materiality of these errors and
concluded that they were not matsrial to any of the Company’s previously issued consolidated financial
statements. In accordance with guidance found in ASC 250-10 (SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 108,
Considering the Effects of Prior Year Misstatomenis when Quantifying Misstaterments in Current Year
Financial Statemants), the Company revised its comparative consolidated financial statements to correct
the effects of these matters. These non-cash revisions do not impact cash flows for any prior period.
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The following tables present the effect of these corrections on individual line items within the Company’s
Consolidated Statements of Eamnings and Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. The effects
which flow through to the individual line items of Barnings, Depreciation and amortization, Cash
distributions in excess of equity earnings, Deferred income taxes, Changes in regulatory assets and
liahilities and Changes in operating assets and liabilities of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
are not significant and have no net effect on the Company’s cash flows from operating activities.

The previously reported figures presented below exclude the effect of any subsequent presentation
changes associated with discontinued operations. Comparative figures as at December 31, 2012 and for
the years ended December 31, 2012 and 2011 have been revised throughout these financial statements
as necessary to reflect these revisions.

Year ended Year ended
Dacember 31, 2012 _ Degember 31, 2011
$ As
Previously Previously

As As
~gported Adustment Revissd  Reported Adjustment Revised

{millions of Canadian dollars, except par share

amounts)
Commodity sales 19,101 (607 18,494 20,811 31 20374
Transportation and other services revenues 4,205 €} 4,288 4,536 (8) 4,528
Commeodily costs 18,566 {(607) 17,958 19,864 (237) 19,627
Depraciation and amortization 1,206 36 1,242 1,112 42 1,134
Incoma from equity investments 160 35 195 210 23 233
Incoma taxes expense (128) 1 (127) (526) 6 {520)
Earnings 943 ) 936 1,242 21 1,221
Eamings attributable to noncontroiling interasts

and redeemable noncontrolling interests (228) N (229} {409) 2 {407)
Eamings attributable to Enbridga ing. 715 8 07 833 {19) 814
Eamings atiributabla to Enbridge Inc. common

sharsholders _ 610 (8) a8 820 (19) 801
Bamings per common share attributable to

Enbridge Inc. common shareholders 0.79 {9.01) 0.78 1.09 (9.02) 1.07
Diluted eamings per common share attributable

to Enbridge Inc. common shareholders 0.78 {0.01) Q.17 1.08 {0.03) 1.05

AAs at December 31, 2012
3
Previously As

Reportad __Adiustment _Reviged

{millions of Canadian dolfars)

Long-term investments 3,386 (211) 3,175
Deferred amounts and other assets 2,622 {161) 2,461
Deferred income tax liabilities 2,601 {118) 2,483
Retained eamings 3,464 (291} 3173
Accumulated other comprehensive loss ) {1,799) 37 {1 ,7&3).
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5. SEGMENTED INFORMATION

Gas Pipalines,
Processing
Ligquids Gas andBnergy Sponsored

Year ended Decamber 31,2013 Pipelings  Distribution Services _invesiments Comporate’ Consolidated
{millions of Canadian doflars) i ‘
Revenues :
Commadity and gas distribution costs
Operating and administrative
Depraciation and amortization

Environmantal costs, net of recoveries

Incoma from equity investments

Other income/{expense)

Interest income/{axpanse)

Incoma taxes repovery/(aXpensge

Earnings/{loss) from continuing operations

Discontinued operations
Eamings fram discontinued operations before

incoma taxes
Income taxes from discontinued operations
Zarnings from discontinuad operations

Eamings/(loss)

(Bamings)/loss attributable to noncontroliing
interests and redsemable noncontrolling
interests

Prefarence share dividends ___

Eamings/(ioss) attributable to Enbridge Inc.
common shareholders

Additions to property, plant and equipment’

Total assets

Gas Pipelines,
Processing
Liquids Gas  and Energy Sponsored
Year gnded Dacember 31, 2012 Pipelines’ _ Distribution ___Services®” Investments’ Corporate’® Consolidated
(millions of Canadian dollars}
Revenues 2,445 2438 13,106 6,671 - - 24,660
Commodity and gas distribution costs - (1,220) {13,676) (4.283) - {19,179)
Operating and administrative (942) {528) (142} {1,076) (51) (2,739)
Depraciation and amortization (399) {336} (57) (431) {13) (1,236)
Environmental costs, nat of recoveries _ - - - 88 - 88
1,104 3584 {769) 969 {64) 1,594
Income/(joss) from equity investments 46 - 14 85 (47 185
Other incame/{expense) " 83 33 49 80 238
Interest incomaf{axpanse) (250) (164) (50) (397 20 (841)
Incoma taxas recovery/{expense) (192) (66) 289 {169) {13) (171)
Eamings/{loss) from continuing operations 701 207 (378) 507 {24) 1,015
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued oparations before
income taxes - - {123} - - (123)
Incoma taxes recovery from discontinued
operations - - 44 - - 44
Loss from discontinued operations - - (79) . - {79}
Bamings/{ioss) 701 207 {458) 507 (24) 938
Barnings attributable to noncontrolling interests
and redeemable noncontrolling interests 4) - 1) {224} - {229)
Praference share dividands - 2 - - (105) {108),
Eamings/{loss) attributable fo Enbridge Inc. '
commeon shareholders 697 207 (456) 283 {129) 60
Additions to property. plant and equipment* 1,927 445 933 1,886 4 5,195
Total assets 15,124 7.416 5349 15648 3,263 46,800
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Gas Pipglines,

Processing
Liquids Gas andBnergy Sponsored
Year ended Decembar 31, 2011 Pipslies’ Distribution  Services™ Investments’ Corporate'® Consolidated
{millions of Canadian dollars)
Revenues 1,934 2,516 13,343 8,996 - 26,789
Commuodity and gas distribution costs - {1.282) (12,814} {6,812) - {20,908)
Qperating and administrative {752) (508) (116) (847 (36) (2,259}
Dapreciation and amoxtization (364) {320} (68) (383) (12) {1,147
nvironmental costs. nat of e - - - 116 - 116
318 406 345 1,070 (48) 2,591
Income/{loss) from equity invastments 5 - 179 54 {5) 233
Other income/(expense) 3 (12) 39 68 (10) 116
Interest expense (256) {166) (56) (350) (100) (928)
income taxes recovary/{expense) (125) {54) (178) LT 5 (523),
Eamings/(loss) from continuing operations 413 174 30 671 (188) 1,488
Discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations before
income taxes - - % - - 9
Income taxes recovery from discontinued
oparations - - 3 - - 3
Loss from discontinued operations . - {6) - - {€)
Eamings/(loss) before extraordinary loss ' 473 174 K72) 671 (158) 1,483
Extraordinary loss, net of tax : (262) : - : (262)
Eamings/{loss) 473 (88) 3 671 (158) 1,221
Eamings attributable to noncontroling interests
and redeemable noncontrolling interests (3) - (1) (403) - {407}
Preferance share dividends - - - ~ {13) {13)
Eamings/(loss) attributable to Enbridge Inc.
—commen sharsholders ) 470 (B3) 322 288 (171) 801

478

other operating segmants.

In Dacembar 2012 and October 2011, certain crude oif storage and renewable energy assels wers transferred to the Fund within

the Sponsored Investments segment. Eamings from the assets prior fo the date of transfar of $33 million {2011 - 871 miflion)

have not been reclassified among segments for presentation purposes.

Duse to a change in organizational structure, effective January 1, 2013, for the year ended December 31, 2012 eamings of $1

million (2011 - nil} and additions to property, plant and equipment of $108 million (2011 - nil} were reclassifisd from the Corporate

segment to the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services segment,

4 Includes altowance for equity funds used during construction.

The measurement basis for preparation of segmented information is consistent with the significant

accounting policies (Note 2).

GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Revenues’
Year ended December 31,

{millions of Canadian dolfars)
Canada
United States

2012 2014
11,629 11,852
13,031 14.937
24,660 26,789

T Reventes are based on the country of origin of the produc.‘t'or service sold.

Property, Piant and Equipment
Pecember 31,

{millions of Canadian dollars)
Canada
United States
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6. FINANCIAL STATEMENT EFFECTS OF RATE REGULATION

GENERAL INFORMATION ON RATE REGULATION AND iTS ECONOMIC EFFECTS
A number of businesses within the Company are subject to regulation. The Company’s significant
regulated businesses and related accounting impacts are described below.

Canadian Mainline

Canadian Mainline includes the Canadian portion of the mainlina system and is subject to reguiation by
the NEB. Canadian Mainline tolls (excluding Lines 8 and 9) are currently governed by the 10-year CTS,
which establishes a Canadian Local Toll for all volumes shipped on the Canadian Mainline and an
internationat Joint Tariff for alt volumes shipped from weastern Canadian recsipt points to delivery points
on the Lakehead System and delivery points on the Canadian Mainline downstream of the Lakehead
System. The CTS was negotiated with shippers in accordance with NEB guidslines, was approved by the
NEB in June 2011 and took effect July 1, 2011. Under the CTS, a regulatory asset is recognized to offset
deferred income taxes as a NEB rate order governing flow-through income tax treatment permits future
recovery. No other material regulatory assets or liabilities are recognized under the terms of the CTS.

Prior to July 1, 2011, the effective date of the CTS, the Incentive Tolling Settlement (ITS) defined the
methodology for caiculation of tolls on the core component of the Canadian Mainline. Toll adjustments for
variances from requirements defined in the ITS were filed annually with the regulator for approval, and
regulatory assets and liabilities were recognized to the extent amounts were recoverable from or payable
to customers through future rates. Surcharges were also detarmined for a number of system expansion
components and were added to the base toll determined for the core system.

Southern Lights

The United Statas portion of the Southern Lights Pipaline (Southern Lights US) is regulated by the FERC
and the Canadian portion of the Southern Lights Pipeline (Southem Lights Canada) is regulated by the
NEB. Shippers on the Southern Lights Pipeline are subject to long-term transportation contracts under a
cost of service toll methodology. Toll adjustments are filed annually with the regulators. Tariffs provide for
recovery of all operating and debt financing costs, plus a pre-determined after-tax rate of return on equity
(ROE) of 10%. Southern Lights Pipaline tolls are based on a deemed 70% debt and 30% equity structure.

Enbridge Gas Distribution

EGD's gas distribution operations are reguiated by the OEB. For the year ended December 31, 2013,
rates were set pursuant to an OEB approved settlement agreemsent and decision {the 2013 Settlement)
related to its 2013 cost of service rate application. The 2013 Settlement retained the previous deemed
aquity level but provided for an increase in the allowed ROE. The 2013 Settlement further retained the
flow-through nature of the cost of natural gas supply and several other cost categories. The eamings
sharing mechanism, which was previously in effect under revenue cap incentive regulation (IR), did not
apply to the 2013 Settlement.

Prior to 2013, EGD operated under an IR mechanism, calculated on a revenue per customer basis, with
the OEB for a five-year period between 2008 and 2012. Under the IR mechanism, the Company was
allowed to earn and fully retain 100 basis points (bps) over the base return. Any retum over 100 bps was
required to be shared with customers on an equal basis.

EGD's after-tax rate of return on common equity embeddad in rates was 8.9% for the year ended
December 31, 2013 (2012 - 8.4%) based on a 36% deemed common equity componeant of capital for
regulatory purposes (2012 - 36%).

The 2013 Settlemant establishad the right to recover an existing OPEB liability of approximately $89
million ($63 million after-tax) over a 20-year time period commencing in 2013. The gain was presented
within Other income/(expense) on the Consolidated Statements of Eamings for the year ended December
31, 2012. The 2013 Settlement further provided for OPEB and pension costs, determined on an accrual
basis, to be recovered in rates.

In July 2013, EGD fited an application with the OEB for the setting of rates through a customized IR
mechanism for the period of 2014 through 2018. A decision is anticipated by the second quarter of 20147
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Enbridge Gas New Brunswick

Enbridge Gas New Brunswick (EGNB) is regulated by the BUB and currently sets tolis at the lower of
market-based or cost of service rates. As at December 31, 2011, EGNB discontinusd rate-regulated
accounting due to amendments in the rate setting methodology enacted by the Government of New
Brunswick, and consequently wrote-off a deferred regulatory asset of $180 million and a regulatory asset
with respect to capitalized operating costs of $103 million, net of an income tax recovery of $21 million.
The write-off of $262 million, net of tax, was presented as an extraordinary loss on the Consolidated
Statements of Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2011,

FINANCIAL STATEMENT EFPECTS
Accounting for rate-regulated activities has resulted in the recognition of the following significant
regulatory assets and liabilities:

December 31,
(miltions of Canadian doltars)
Regulatory assets/(liabilities)
Liquids Pipelines
Deferred income taxes’
Tolling deferrals?
Recoverable income taxes®
Gas Distribution
Deferred income taxes*
Transaction services deferral®
Future removal and site restoration reserves®
Pension plans and OPEB’
Sponsored Investments
Defarred income taxes'

Transportation revenue adjustments® B
1 assel rapresents the regulatory offset to deferred income tax liabilities that are expectad to ba recoverad

income tax treatment. The recovery period depends on future revarsal of temporary diffsrences.

2 The liability reflects net tax benefits expected to be rafunded through future transportaion tolis on Southem Lights Canada. The
balance is expected to accumidate for approximately nine years bafors being refunded through tolls.

3 The asset represants fulure revenues lo ba collected from shippers for Southem Lights US to recover federal income taxes

4

under flow-throug

payable on the equity component of AFUDC. The recovery period is approximately 30 years.

The asset represents the regulatory offset to deferred income tax liabilities fo the extent that deferrad income taxes are expecled

to be recovered or refunded through regulator-approvad rates. The recovery period depends on future tempovary differences.

Deferrad income taxes in Gas Distribution are excluded from the rate base and do not eam a return on aquily.

The transaction services deforral represents the customer portion of additional eamings generated from optimization of storage

and pipeline capacity. The balance s expected o be refunded to custorners in the following year.

6  The future removal and site restoration reseives balance results from amounts collscted from customers by certain businesses,
with the approval of the regufator, to fund fulure costs for ramoval and site restoration relating to property, plant and equipment.
These costs are collected as part of depraciation charged on proparty, plant and equipment. The balance reprasents the
amount that has been coflected from customers, net of actual costs axpended on removal and site restoration. The setflernent
of this balance will ocour as future removal and site rastoration costs are incurred.

7 The pension plans and OPEB balances represent the regulatory offset to pension plan and OPEB obligations to the extent the
amounts are expacted to be coflected from customers in fulura rates. An OPEB balance of $89 million is being collected over a
20-year period which commenced in 2013, whereas the seftlement period for the pension regulatory asset is not dalerminable.
The bafances are excluded from the rate bass and do not eam a retum on aquity.

&  Transportation revenue adjustments are the cumulative diffsrences between acfual axpenses incurred and estimated expenses
included in transportation tolls, Transportation revenue adjustments are not inciuded int the rate base. Tha recovery pariod is
approximately five years and dependent on shipper throughput lavels.

4.3

OTHER ITEMS AFFECTED BY RATE REGULATION

Allowance for Funds Used During Construction and Other Capitalized Costs

Under the pool method prescribed by certain regulators, it is not possible to identify the camying value of
the equity component of AFUDC or its effect on depreciation. Similarly, gains or losses on the retirement
of certain specific fixed assets in any given year cannot be identified or quantified,

23



Operating Cost Capitalization

With the approval of regulators, certain operations capitalize a percentage of certain operating costs.
These operations are authorized to charge depreciation and eam 3 retumn on the net book valua of such
capitalized costs in future years, in the absence of rate regulation, a portion of such operating costs would
be charged to earnings in the year incurred.

EGD entered into a consuiting contract relating to asset management initiatives. The majority of the costs,
primarily consuiting fees, are being capitalized to gas mains in accordance with regulatory approval. At
Dscamber 31, 2013, cumulative costs relating to this consulting contract of $154 million (2012 - $144
million) were included in Property, plant and equipment and are being depreciated over the average
service life of 25 years. In the absence of rate regulation, some of these costs would be charged to
earnings in the ysar incurred.

7. ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

ACQUISITIONS

Silver State North Solar Project

On March 22, 2012, Enbridge acquired a 100% interest in the Silver State North Solar Project (Silver
State), a soiar farm located in Nevada for cash consideration of $198 million (US$190 million).

Siiver State expanded the Company's renewable energy business. Revenues and eamings of $10 million
and $1 million, respectively, were recognized in the year ended December 31, 2012. No revenues or
earnings were recognized in any prior period as the solar project commenced operations in the second
quarter of 2012. Silver State is included within the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services
segment.

March 22, 2012
{millions of Canadian dolars)
Fair value of nat assets acquired.
Accounts receivable and other' 54
Propearty, plant and equipment ‘ o 141
195

Purchase price:
Cash - 195
1 The Company acquired the right to apply for a $54 Tilion (US$§ miflion) United States Treasury grant under a program which

reimburses eligible applicants for a portion of costs related to installing specifisd renewable energy property. The grant, which
was applied for subsequent fo commercial operations, was raceived in October 2012,

Tonbridge Power inc.

On October 13, 2011, Enbridge acquired 100% of the 38 million outstanding common shares of
Tonbridge Power Inc. {Tonbridge), an independent company engaged in constructing an electric
transmission line between Montana and Alberta, for $20 million in cash at a price of $0.54 per share.
Tonbridge was included within the Corporate segment upon acquisition and was subsequently
rectassified to the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services segment effective January 1, 2013,
due to a change in organizational structure.

October 13, — 2014

{millions of Canadian dollars)

Fair value of net assets acquired:
Working capital deficiency (5)
Property, plant and equipment 196
Intangible assets 17
Long-term debt _ {182)
Other long-term liabilities 21)

8

Purchase price:
Cash (net of $15 million ¢ash acquired)
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No revenues from Tonbridge were recognized in 2011 as the transmission line was not in service. A nat
ioss of $1 million was recognized in eamings for the period from Qctober 13, 2011 to December 31, 2011
related to operating and administrative expense. An unaudited proforma nat loss of $38 million, including
$6 million of transaction costs, would have been recognized in eamings in 2011 had the acquisition
occurred on January 1, 2011.

OTHER ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSITIONS

In November 2013, EEP sold one of its non-core liquids assets, a storage facility in Kansas, to a third party
for $41 million (US$40 million). A gain of $18 million (US$17 million) was presented within Other
income/(expense) on the Consolidated Statements of Bamings.

In November 2012, Enbridge acquired certain sour gas gathering and compression facilities located in the
Peace River Arch region of northwest Alberta (collectively, Pipestone and Sexsmith) for a purchase price

of $118 million, which has been fully allocated to Property, plant and equipment. Pipastone and Sexsmith
are currently in service or under construction and are presented within the Gas Pipelines, Processing and
Energy Services segment.

in May 2012, Enbridge acquired the remaining 10% interest in the Greenwich Wind Energy Project
(Greenwich) through Greenwich Windfarm, LP, for cash consideration of $27 million, increasing its
ownership interest to 100%. The Company’s interest in Greenwich was consolidated and presented within
the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services segment until such time as it was transferred to the
Fund in Dacember 2012 (Note 19).

In Qctober 2011, the Company acquired the remaining 10% interest in Talbot Windfarm, LP (Talbot) for
$28 million, increasing its ownership interest to 100%. The Company’s interest in Talbot was consolidated
and presented within the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services segment until such time as it
was transferred to the Fund in Qctober 2011,

Unaudited proforma consolidated revenues and eamings that give effect to all of the Company’s other
acquisitions as if they had occurred as of January 1 in the year of acquisition are not presented as the
information would not be materially different from the information presented in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Barnings.
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8. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND OTHER

December 31, 2013 2012
{millions of Canadian dollars) : =

Unbilied revenues

Trade recgivables

Taxes receivable

Requlatory assets

Short-tarm portion of derivative assets (Note 23)
Prepaid expenses and deposits

Current deferred income taxes (Note 24
Dividends receivable

Other

Allowance for doubtful accounts

e R

Pursuant to a Receivables Purchase Agreement (the Receivables Agreement), certain trade and accrued
receivables (the Receivablas) have been sold by certain of EEP's subsidiaries to an Enbridge wholly-
owned special purpose entity (SPE). The Receivables owned by the SPE are not available to Enbridge
except through its 100% ownership in such SPE. The Recelvables Agreement, as amended on
September 20, 2013 and again on December 2, 2013, provides for subsequent purchases to occur on a
monthly basis through to December 2016; however, the accumulated purchases net of collections cannot
exceed US$450 million at any one point. As at December 31, 2013, the value of trade and accrued
recaivables outstanding owned by the SPE totalied US$380 million (5404 million).

9. INVENTORY

December 31,

{millions of Canadian dollars)
Natural gas

Other commaodities

Commodity costs on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings included non-cash charges of $4 miilion
(2012 - $10 million; 2011 - $9 million) for the year ended December 31, 2013 to reduce the cost basis of
inventory to market value,
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10. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Weighted Average

December 31, Depreciation Rate 2013
(millions of Canadian doflars} ' e
Liquids Pipelines

Pipeline

Pumping equipment, buildings, tanks and other

Land and right-of-way

Under construction

Accumulated depreciation

Gass Distribution
Gas mains, services and other
Land and right-of-way
Under construction

Accumulated depreciation

Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services
Pipeline
Wind turbines, solar panels and other
Power transmission’
Land and right-of-way
Under construction’

Accumulated depreciation

Sponsored Investments
Pipeline
Pumping equipment, buildings, tanks and other
Wind turbines, solar panels and other
Land and right-of-way
Under construction

Accumulated depreciation

Corporate
Other’
Under construction’

Accumulated depreciation

, _ 279 33318

T Due foa change in organizational structure effective January 1, 2013, ﬁroperly, plant and equipment of $313 million were
reclassified from the Corporate segment to the Gas Pipelines and Energy Seivices segment for the year snded December 31,
2012, .

Depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $1,282 million (2012 - $1,174 million;
2011 - $1,089 million). :
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GAS PIPELINES, PROCESSING AND ENERGY SERVICES

impairment

In December 2012, the Company recorded an impairment charge of $166 million (3105 million after-tax)
related to certain of its Enbridge Offshore Pipelines (Offshore) assets, predominantly located within the
Stingray and Garden Banks corridors in the Gulf of Mexico. The Company had been pursuing alternative
usas for these assets; however, due to changing compatitive conditions in the fourth quarter of 2012, the
Company concluded that such alternatives were no longer likely to proceed. In addition, unique to these
assets is their significant reliance on natural gas production from shallow water areas of the Guif of
Mexico which have been challenged by macro-economic factors including prevalence of onshore shale
gas production, hurricane disruptions, additional regulation and the low natural gas commodity price
anvironment,

The impairment charge was based on the amount by which the carrying values of the assets exceeded
fair value, determined using expected discounted future cash flows, and was presented within Operating
and administrative expeanse on the Consolidated Statements of Earnings. The charga was inclusive of
$50 million related to abandonment costs which were reasonably determined given the expected timing
and scope of certain asset retirements. A portion of the impairment charge was subsequently reclassified
to discontinued operations as noted below.

Discontinued Operations

During the fourth quarter of 2013, Enbridge concluded it would seek to dispose of certain assets within
the Stingray corridor and entered into negotiations with an unvelated third party. As a result, at December
31, 2013, the related assets and liabilities were classified as held for sale and were measured at tha
lower of their carrying amount and estimated fair value less cost to sell which did not result in a fair value
adjustment. The results of operations including revenues of $26 million (2012 - $32 million, 2011 - $19
million) and related cash flows have been presented as discontinued operations for the year ended
December 31, 2013, with the prior year comparative figures reclassified. These amounts are included in
the Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services segment. The Company expects to complete the sale
in the first quarter of 2014.

11. VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITY

The Fund is an unincorporated open-ended trust established by a trust indenture under the laws of the
Province of Alberta and is considered a VIE by virtue of its capital structura. The Company is the primary
beneficiary of the Fund through its combined 67.3% (2012 - 67.7%; 2011 - 69.2%) economic interest,
held indirectly through a common investment in ENF, a direct common trust unit investment In the Fund
and a preferred unit investment in a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Fund. Enbridge also serves in the
capacity of Manager of ENF, the Fund and its subsidiaries.

The summarized impact of the Company's interest in the Fund on earnings, cash flows and financial
position is presented below. Eamings include the results of operations of certain assets acquired by the
Fund from wholly-owned subsidiaries of Enbridge from the dates of acquisition of October 2011 and
Daecember 2012 (Note 19). Eamnings, cash flows and financial position information exclude the effect of
intercompany transactions.
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Year ended December 31,

{millions of Canadian dollars)

Revenues

Operating and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization

income from equity investments
interast expense

Income taxes

Bamings
Loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

295 agnbutab!e {0 gpbndgq

Cash fiows
Cash provided by operating activities
Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by/(used in) financing activities

Increase/(decrease) in cagh_and cash equivalents

December 31,

2012 2011
288 148
(83) (68)
(87) @7)

54 57
(68) (32)
(33) (21
69 3
12 9
81 46
200 137
(160) (95)
1,495 381
1535 42

{millions of Canadian dollars)
Current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Long-term investiments

Deferred amounts and other assets
Current liabilities

L.ong-term debt

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred income taxas

Net assets before n_oncontroiling interests
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12. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS

Ownership
December 31, Interest
(millions of Canadian dollars)
Equity Investments
Joint Ventures
Liquids Pipelines
Chicap Pipeline 43.8%
Mustang Pipeline 30.0%
Seaway Pipeline 50.0%
Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services
Offshore - various joint ventures 22.0%«74.3%
Vector 60.0%
Alliance Pipeline US 50.0%
Aux Sable 42.7% - 50.0%
Other 33.3% - 70.0%
Sponsored Investments
Alliance Pipeline Canada 50.0%
Texas Express Pipeline 35.0%
Other £0.0%
Other Equity Investments
Corporate
Noverco Common Shares 38.9%
Other 16.3% - 49.99%
Other Long-Term Investments
Corporate
Noverco Preferred Shares
Other

2013

012

Bquity investments include the unamortized excess of the purchase price over the underlying net book
value of the investees' assets at the purchase date which is comprised of $680 million (2012 - $636
million) in Goodwill and $517 million (2012 - $493 million) in amortizable assets.

JOINT VENTURES

Summarized combined financial information of the Company’s interest in unconsolidated equity

investments in joint ventures is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

{millicns of Canadian dollars)
Revenues

Commaodity costs

Operating and administrative expense
Depreciation and amortization

Other income/(axpense)

Interast expense

Eiaming’ s before income taxes

2012 2011
956 827
(238)  (138)
(244)  (200)
(188)  (158)
4 (3)
(81) (87)
240 341




December 31,

{miflions of Canadian doflars)

Current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Deferred amounts and other assets
Intangible assets, net

Goodwill

Current liabilities

Long-term debt

Other long-term liabilities

Net assets

Alliance Pipaline.

Certain assets of Alliance Pipeline Canada are pledged as collateral to Alliance Pipsline Canada lenders
and to the lenders of Alliance Pipeline US. As well, certain assets of Alliance Pipeline US are pledged as
collaterat to Alliance Pipeline US lenders and to the lendars of Alliance Pipeline Canada.

OTHER EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Noverco

At December 31, 2013, Enbridge owned an equity interest in Noverco through ownership of 38.9% (2012
- 38.9%; 2011 - 38.9%) of its common shares and an investment in preferred shares. The preferred
shares are entitled to a cumulative preferred dividend based on the average yield of Government of
Canada bonds maturing in 10 years plus a range of 4.3% to 4.4%.

At December 31, 2013, Noverco owned an approximate 3.9% (2012 - 8.0%; 2011 - 8.9%) reciprocal
shareholding in common shares of Enbridge. The change in reciprocal shareholding compared with prior
years reflected the sale of Enbridge common shares by Noverco in 2012 and 2013. Through secondary
offerings, Noverco sold 22.5 million Enbridge common shares in 2012 and a further 15 million common
shares in 2013. Enbridge’s share of the net after-tax proceeds of $297 million and $248 million were
received as dividends from Noverco in May 2012 and June 2013, respectively. The transactions were
recognized as issuances of treasury stock on the Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity and as
an operating activity on the Consoclidated Statements of Cash Flows.

As a result of Noverco's reciprocal shareholding in Enbridge common shares, the Company has an
indirect pro-rata interest of 1.5% (2012 - 2.1%; 2011 - 3.5%) in its own shares. Both the equity investment
in Noverco and shareholders’ equity have been reduced by the reciprocal shareholding of $86 million at
December 31, 2013 (2012 - $126 miilion; 2011 - $187 million). Noverco records dividends paid by the
Company as dividend income and the Company eliminates these dividends from its equity earnings of
Noverco. The Company records its pro-rata share of dividends paid by the Company to Noverco as a
reduction of dividends paid and an increase in the Company's investment in Noverco.

13. DEFERRED AMOUNTS AND OTHER ASSETS

December 31,

(millions of Canadian dolfars)

Regulatory assets

Long-term portion of derivative assets (Note 23)
Affiiate long-term note receivable (Note 28)
Contractual receivables

Deferred financing costs

Other

At December 31, 2013, deferred amounts of $307 million (2012 « $265 million) were subject to
amortization and are presented net of accumulated amortization-of $159 million (2012 - $123 million).
Amortization expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $34 miffion (2012 - $25 miltion; 2011 -
$20 million). - S - -
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14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Waeighted Average Accumulated
December 31, 2013 Amortization Rata ___Cost Amortization et
(millions of Canadian dollars) S S i
Software 13.2%
Natural gas supply opportunities 3.7%
Power purchase agreements 4.0%
Transportation agreements 3.7%
Qther 4.0%

Waeighted Average Accumulated
December 31, 2012 Amortization Rate Cost Amortization Net
{millions of Canadian dollars)
Software 11.9% 822 180 442
Natural gas supply opportunities 3.8% 291 50 241
Powar purchase agreemsnts 4.7% 85 4 81
Transportation agreements 2.9% 50 13 a7
Other 5.6% 20 4 16,

1,068 251 817

Total amortization expense for intangible assets was $82 million {2012 - $84 million; 2011 - $58 million)
for the year ended December 31, 2013. The Company expects aggregate amortization expense for the
years ending December 31, 2014 through 2018 of $93 million, $83 million, $73 million, $&5 million and
$57 million, respectively.

15. GOODWILL

Gas Pipelines,
Liquids Gas Processing and Sponsored
Pipglines Distribution Energy Services Investments Corporate Consolidatad

{millions of Canadian dollars;

Balance at January 1, 2012 48 - 30 362 - 440
Transfer of assets to the Fund (29) - - 29 - -
Foreign exchange and other 3 - (a7) (7 - (21)

Balance at December 31, 2012 22 - 13 384 - 419

5

Foreign exchange and other
Balance at December 31, 2013

The Company did not recognize any goodwill impairments for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012.

16. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER

Pecember 31,

(millions of Canadian dollars}

Operating accrued liabilities

Trade payables

Construction payables

Current derivative liabilities (Note 23)
Contractor holdbacks

Taxes payable

Security deposits

Other
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17. DEBT

Weighted Average
December 31, Interest Rate Maturity
(millions of Canadian dollars)
Liquids Pipelines
Debentures 8.2% 2024
Medium-term notes’ 4.8% 2015-2043
Southern Lights project financing® 2.7% 2014
Commercial paper and credit facility draws
Other®
Gas Distribution
Debentures 9.9% 2024
Medium-term notes 5.3% 2014-2080
Commercial paper and credit facility draws
Sponsored Investments
Junior subordinated notes* 8.1% 2067
Medium-term notes 3.9% 2014-2023
Senior notes® 6.3% 2014-2040
Commercial paper and credit facility draws®
Corporate
United States dollar term notes’ 4.2% 2015-2023
Medium-term notes 4.6% 20152042

Commercial paper and credit facility draws®
Other®

Total dabt
Current maturities
Short-term bomrowings™

Long-term debt
1 Included in medium-term notes is 3100 million with a matunty date of 2112

Primarily capital lease obligations.
2013 - US$400 mifiion (2012 - US$400 mitlion).
2013 - UUS$3,950 million (2012 - US$4, 150 miltion),

2013 - US$2,250 million {2012 - US$1,700 million).

Oo~rh W

Primarnily debt discount.
10 Weighted average interest rate - 1.1% (2012 - 1.1%).

2013 - 341 million and US$635 million (2012 - $250 miltion and US$1, 160 million).

2013 - $352 million and US$1,061 miltion (2012 - $357 million and US$1,061 miliion).

2013 - $2,478 million and US$1,055 million (2012 - $1,140 million and US$350 million).

For the years ending December 31, 2014 through 2018, debenture and term note maturities are $1,330

million, $931 million, $1,393 million, $952 million, $960 million, respectively, and $13,562 million

thereafter. The Company’s debentures and term notes bear interest at fixed rates and interest obligations
for the years ending December 31, 2014 through 2018 are $1,138 million, $1,088 million, $1,063 million,
$988 million and $851 million, respectively. At December 31, 2013 and 2012, all debt is unsecured except
for the Southemn Lights project financing which is collateralized by the Southern Lights project assets of
approximately $2,680 million (2012 - $2,565 miilion).

INTEREST EXPENSE
Year ended December 31, 2012 2011
{millions of Canadian doliars) ' ‘
Debentures and term notes 088 891
Commercial paper and credit facility draws 33 74
Southem Lights project finanging as 38
Capitalized S (216) _(7%)‘
- 841 928 -
——
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CREDIT FACILITIES

December 31,

December 31, 2013 2012

Maturi Total ' otal

. Dates’ Draws® Eacilities
{millions of Canadian doliars} i

Liquids Pipelines 201 300

Gas Distribution 2014-2019 712

Sponsored Investments 2018-2018 3,162

Corporate _ 2015-201 108

13,282

Southern Lights project financing' _ 2014-201 1484

Total credit facilities P 14766

. Zaid e
1 Total facilities inclusive miflion for dabl service raserva latters of credit.
2 Total facilities include $35 million in demand facilities with no specified maturily date.
3 Includes facility draws, lefters of credit and commarcial paper issuances that are back-stopped by the credit facility.

Credit facilities carry a weighted average standby fee of 0.2% per annum on the unused portion and
draws bear interest at market rates. Certain credit facilittes serve as a back-stop to the commercial paper
programs and the Company has the option to extend the facilities, which are currently set to mature from
2014 to 2018.

Commercial paper and credit facility draws, net of short-term borrowings, of $4,580 million (2012 - $2,925
million) are supported by the availability of long-term committed credit facilities and therefore have been
classified as long-term debt.

18. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

December 31,

(millions of Canadian doflars)

Future ramoval and site restoration liabilities (Note 6)
Derivative liabilities (Note 23}

Pension and OPEB liabilities (Note 25)

Other

19. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS

December 31,

(millions of Ganadian dollars)

EEP

Enbridge Energy Management, L.L.C. (EEM)
EGD preferred shares

Other

Noncontrolling interests in EEP represented the 79.4% (2012 - 78.2%) interest in EEP held by public
unithoiders, as well as interests of third parties in subsidiaries of EEP, including Midcoast Bnergy
Partners, L.P. (MEP). The increase in noncontrolling interests in EEP inciuded contributions of $372
million (US$353 million) received from an initial public offering (IPO) of MEP. In May 2013, EEP formed
MEP, which at the time was EEP's wholly owned subsidiary, and transferred approximately 39% of its
ownarship interest in EEP's natural gas and NGL midstream business to MEP. In November 2013, MEP
completed the IPO whereby a total of 21.3 million MEP's Class A common units were issued (including
2.8 million Class A common units issued pursuant to the exercise of the underwriters’ over-aliotment
option in December 2013) representing approximately 46% limited partner interest in MEP.
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During the year ended December 31, 2013, BEP also distributed $463 million (2012 - $419 million; 2011 -
$353 million) to its noncontrolling interest holders in line with BEP’s objective to make quarterly
distributions in an amount equal to its available cash, as defined in its partnership agreement and as
approved by EEP's Board of Directors.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, EBP completed a listad share issuance, in which the
Company did not participate, resulting in an increase in the noncontrolling interests from 77.0% to
78.2%.The listed share issuance during the year ended December 31, 2012 resulted in contributions of
$382 million (2011 - $895 million) from noncontrolling interest holders.

Noncontrolling interests in BEM represented the 83.3% (2012 - 83.2%) of the listed shares of E8M not
held by the Company. The increase in noncontrolling interests reflected the issuance of listed shares in
2013 in which the Company did not pasticipate and which resulted in contributions of $523 miltion from
noncontrolling interest holders.

The Company owns 100% of the outstanding common sharas of EGD; however, the four million
Cumulative Redeemable EGD Preferred Shares held by third parties are entitled to a claim on the assets
of EGD prior to the common shareholder. The preferred shares have no fixed maturity date and have
floating adjustable cash dividends that are payabie at 80% of the prime rate. EGD may, at is option,
redeem ail or a portion of the outstanding shares for $25 per share plus all accrued and unpaid dividends
to the redemption date. As at December 31, 2013, no preferred shares have been redeemed.

REDEEMABLE NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Year ended December 31, _ 2013 2012 2011
{millions of Canadian dollars) ]

Balance at beginning of year 640 362
Loss (12) {9
Other comprehensive income/(loss)

Change in unrealized gains/(loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax 1 (3)
Comprehensive loss ' (13) (12)

Distributions to unitholders (49) (33)

Contributions from unitholders 225 170

Redemption vaiue adjustment 197 153

Balance at end of year 1,000 640

Redeemable noncontrolling interests in the Fund at December 31, 2013 represented 68.6% (2012 -
87.7%; 2011 - 64.6%) of interests in the Fund’s trust units that are held by third parties. During the year
ended December 31, 2013, the Fund completed a unit issuance in which the Company did not participate,
resulting in an increase in the redeemable noncontrolling interasts from 67.7% to 68.6%. This resulted in
contributions of $92 million from redeemable noncontrolling interest holders.

in December 2012, the Fund acquired Greenwich, Amherstburg and Titbury solar energy projects,
Hardisty Caverns and Hardisty Contract Terminals from Enbridge and wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Enbridge for proceeds of $1.2 biilion. In October 2011, the Fund agquired the Ontario Wind, Samia Solar
and Talbot Wind energy projects from a wholly-owned subsidiary of Enbridge for $1.2 biffion. In both
cases, ord:nary trust units were issued by the Fund to partially finance these acquisitions, resulting in an
increase in interests held by third parties in 2012 and 2011 and contributions from noncontrolling
unitholders of $225 million and $170 milion, respectively.

Distributions to noncontrolling unitholders were made on a monthly basis for the years ended December

31, 2013, 2012 and 2011 in line with the Fund's objective of distributing a high proportion of its cash
available for distribution, as approved by its Board of Trustees. _ o _
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20. SHARE CAPITAL

The authorized share capital of the Company consists of an uniimited number of common shares with no
par value and an unlimited number of preference shares.

COMMON SHARES
2013 2012 2011
Number Number of Number of
Decamber 31, of Shares Amount ___ Shares Amount __Shares Amount

(miﬁrons of Canadian dollars, numbar of common
sharas in millions)

Balance at beginning of }(ear 781 3,869 770 3,683
Common Shares issued 10 328 - -
Dividend Reinvastment and Share

Purchase Plan (DRIP) 8 297 7 229
Shares issuad on exercise of stock options 8 78 4 87

Balance at ond of year : 38054732 781 3960
1 ross procesds - million (2012 - $400 mwllion). net issuance costs - $18 million (2012 - $12 million).

PREFERENCE SHARES

2013 2012 _ 2011
Number Number Number
Q%ember 31, of Shares Amount of Shares Amount of Shares Amount
(millions of Canadian Jollars, numbar of prefarence

shares in millions)

Preference Shares, Series A 5 125 5 125
Preference Sharas, Series B 20 800 20 500
Preference Shares, Series D 18 450 18 450
Preference Sharas, Series F 20 500 - -
Preference Shares, Series H 14 330 - -
Preference Shares, Series J 8 199 - -
Preference Shares, Series L 16 41 - -
Preference Shares, Series N 18 450 - -
Prafarence Shares, Series P 16 400 - -
Preference Shares, Series R 16 400 - -
Preference Shares, Series 1 - - - -
Preference Shares, Series 3 - - - -
Preference Shares, Series 5 - - - -
Prefarence Shares, Series 7 . - - -
issuance costs (78) (19)
Balance at end of year 3,707 1,086




Characteristics of the preference shares are as follows:

Per Share Base Redemption and Right to
initiat Redemption Convarsion Convert
Yield _ Dividend' Value® Qption Date®* into®*

{Canadian dollars unlass otherwise stated)
Preference Shares, Series A 5.8% $1.378 $28 - -
Prefersence Shares, Series B 4.0% $1.000 $28 June 1,2017  Series C
Preference Shares, Series D 4.0% $1.000 $25 March 1, 2018  Series B
Preference Shares, Series F 4.0% $1.000 $25 June 1,2018  Series G
Preference Shares, Series H 4.0% $1.000 $25  September 1, 2018 Series |
Preference Sharas, Series J 4.0% US$1.000 Uss2s June 1,2017  Serias K
Preference Shares, Series L 4.0% US$1.000 US$25  September 1,2017  Series M
Preference Shares, Series N 4.0% $1.000 $25 December 1, 2018  Series O
Preference Shares, Series P 4.0% $1.000 $25 March 1, 2019 Series Q
Preference Shares, Series R 4.0% $1.000 $25 June 1, 2019 Series 8
Preference Shares, Series 1 4.0% US$1.000 UssE2s June 1, 2018 Series 2
Preference Shares, Series 3 4.0% $1.000 $25  September 1, 2019 Series 4
Preference Shares, Series 5 4.4% US$1.100 Uss$zs March 1, 2019 Series 6
Preference Shares, Series 7° 44%  $1.100 $25 March 1, 2018 Series 8

ha holder is entiled to receive a fixed, cumulative, quarterly prefarential dividend per year, as decla by the Board of Directors

of the Company.

2 Preference Shares, Series A may be redeamad any time at the Company’s option. For all other series of Prefersnce Shares, the
Company may at its option, redeem all or a portion of the oulstanding Preference Sharas for the Base Redemption Value per
share plus all accrusd and unpaid diviclends on the Radsmption Option Date and on every fifth anniversary thersafter.

3 The holder will have the right, subject to certain conditions, to convert their shares into Cumulative Redeemable Prefsrence
Shares of a specified serias on the Conversion Option Date and every fifth anniversary thereafter,

4 Holders will be entitled to raceive quarterly floafing rate cumulative dividends per share at a rate aqual to: 525 x (number of days
in quarter/385) x (90-day Govemment of Canada treasury bill rate + 2.4% (Series C), 2.4% (Series E), 2.5% (Series G}, 2.1%
(Series ), 2.7% (Series O), 2.5% (Series Q), 2.5% (Series 8), 2.4% {Series 4) or 2.6% (Serias 8)); or USE25 x (number of days in
quarter/365) x (three-month United States Government treasury bill rate + 3,1% (Series K), 3.2% (Series M), 3.1% (Series 2) or
2.8% (Sarias 6)).

5 A cash dividend of $0.2381 per share will be payable on March 1, 2014 to Serias 7 prafarance shareholders. The reguilar

quarterly dividend of $0.275 per share will begin in the second quarter of 2014,

EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE

Earnings per common share is calculated by dividing eamings attributable to common shareholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. The weighted average number of shares
outstanding has been reduced by the Company’s pro-rata weighted average interest in its own common
shares of 15 million (2012 - 20 million; 2011 - 25 miifion), resuiting from the Company’s reciprocal
investment in Noverco.

The treasury stock method is used to determine the dilutive impact of stock options. This mathod
assumes any proceeds from the exercise of stock options would be used to purchase common shares at
the average market price during the period. :

2013 2012 2011

s,

December 31,
{nurnber of cormon shares in millions)

Weighted average shares outstanding 712 751
Effect of dilutive options : _ 13 10
Dilutad weighted averags shares oujt'._g;andingr 785 ?TST

For the year ended December 31, 2013, 6,327,500 anti-dilutive stock options (2012 - 8,733,000; 2011 -
48,000) with a weighted average exercise price of $44.85 (2012 - $38.32; 2011 - $32.02) were excluded
from the diluted eamings per share'calc‘uiatiqn. |

“STOCK SPLIT Lo . i o ‘
‘Effective May 25, 2011, a two-for-one split of the.common sharés of the Company was completed, All
- references to the number of shares otitstanding, earnings per common share, diluted eamings per ,
- -.common share, dividends per common share and outstanding option informatiort have been retroactively
 restated to reflect the impact of the stock split. o . :
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DIVIDEND REINVESTMENT AND SHARE PURCHASE PLAN

Under the DRIP, registered shareholders may reinvest dividends in common shares of the Company and
make additional optional cash payments to purchase common shares, free of brokerage or other charges.
Participants in the Company’s DRIP receive a 2% discount on the purchase of common shares with
reinvested dividends.

SHAREMOLDER RIGHTS PLAN

The Shareholder Rights Plan is designed to encourage the fair treatment of shareholders in connection
with any takeover offer for the Company. Rights issued undear the plan becoms exercisable when a
person and any related parties acquires or announces its intention to acquire 20% or more of the
Company’s cutstanding common shares without complying with certain provisions set out in the plan or
without approval of the Company’s Board of Directors. Should such an acquisition occur, each rights
holder, other than the acquiring person and related parties, will have the right to purchase common
sharas of the Company at a 50% discount to the market price at that time,

21. STOCK OPTION AND STOCK UNIT PLANS

The Company maintains four long-term incentive compensation plans: the 1SO Plan, the PBSO Plan, the
PSU Plan and the RSU Plan. A maximum of 60 million common shares were reserved for issuance under
the 2002 1SO plan, of which 47 million have been issued to date. A further 52 million common shares
have been reserved for issuance for the 2007 I1SO and PBSO plans, of which seven million have been
exercised and issued from treasury to date. The PSL) and RSU plans grant notional units as if a unit was
one Enbridge common share and are payable in cash.

INCENTIVE STOCK OPTIONS
Key employees are granted ISO to purchase common shares at the market price on the grant date. 1ISO
vest in equal annual instaliments over a four-year period and expire 10 years after the issue date.

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual intrinsic
Decaember 31, 2013 Number Prica  Life (years Value

{options in thousands; intrinsic value in millions of
Canadian dollars)

Options outstanding at beginning of year
Options granted

Options exercised'

Options cancelied or expired

Options outstanding at end of year

Ogtnons vested at end of xeanr2 18,1
1 total intrinsic valua of 1ISO exercised during the year ended Dacember 31, 2013 was $98 million (2012 - $130 miflion; 2011+

368 miflion) and cash received on exercise was $24 million (2012 - $6% million; 2011 - $56 million).
2 The total fair value of options vested undsr the 180 Plan during the year andad Dscember 31, 2013 was $22 million (2012 - §19
million; 2011 - $17 million).
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Weighted average assumptions used to determine the fair value of ISO granted using the Black-Scholes-
Merton option pricing model are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
Fair value per option (Canadian doflars)
Valuation assumptions
Bxpected option term (years)’
Expected volatility®
Bxpected dividend yield* o

Risk-ree interest rate® L% 13% 9%
1 ons grante nited States employeas are basad on New York Slock gichange pricas. The option value and assumptions

shown are based on a weighted average of the United States and the Canadian options. The fair valuss per option were $5.15
(2012 - 34.65; 2011 - $4.01) for Canadian employees and US$5.63 (2012 - US$5.58; 2011 - US$5.11) for United States
employess. :

The expected option tarm is based on historical exercisa practice.

Expacted volalility is determined with reference to historic daily share price volatility and considsration of the implied volatility
ohservabla in call oplion values near the grant date.

The expected dividend yield is the current annual dividend at the grant date divided by the current stock price.

Tha risk-fres intsrest rate is based on the Govemment of Canada’s Canadian Bond Yialds and the United States Treasury Bond
Yislds.

i W

Compensation expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013 for ISO was $27 million (2012 -
$23 million; 2011 - $16 million). At December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested stock-based compensation arrangements granted under the ISO Plan was $37 million. The cost is
expected to be fully recognized over a weighted average period of approximately three years.

PERFORMANCE BASED STOCK OPTIONS

PBSO are granted to executive officers and become exercisable when both performance targets and time
vesting requirements have been met. PBSO were granted on August 15, 2007, February 19, 2008 and
August 15, 2012 under the 2007 plan. All performance targets for the 2007 and 2008 grants have been
met. The time vesting requirements were fulfilled evenly over a five-year period ending on August 15,
2012 with the options being exercisable until August 15, 2015. Time vesting requirements for the 2012
grant will be fulfilled evenly over a five-year term, ending August 15, 2017. The 2012 grant's performance
targets are based on the Company’s share price and must ba met by February 15, 2019 or the options
axpire. If targets are met by February 15, 2019, the options are exercisable until August 15, 2020.

Waeighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
December 31, 2013 _ Number Price  Life (yvears Value
{options in thousands; intninsic value in millions of e
Canadian dollars)

Qptions outstandiqg at beginning of year

Options exercised: ‘

Options outstanding at end of ysar

Qptions vested at end of year* ;

tofal intningic valus of PBSO exercised during the year endsd December 31, 2013

- $2 million} and cash received on exsrvise was $28 miion (2012 - $12 million; 2011 - 33 million).

2 The lotal fair value of options vested under the PBSO Plan during the year ended Dscember 31, 2013 was nil (2012 - $1 million;
2011 - $2 milfion).
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Assumptions used to determine the fair value of PBSO granted using the Bloomberg barier option
valuation model are as follows:

Year ended Decamber 31, 2012
Fair value per option (Canadian doilars) 4.2
Valuation assumptions
Expected option term (years)’ 8
Expectad volatility’ 16.1%
Expected dividend yield® 2.8%
Risk-free interest rate* , , 1.6%

1 7% expactad option term is bassd on h:’sfo:ica! exarcise practice.

2 Expaclad volatility is determined with reference to historic daily share price volatilify.

3 The expacted dividend yisld is the current annual dividend at the grant date divided by the current stock price.
4 The risk-free interest rate is based on the Government of Canada’s Canadian Bond Yislds.

Compensation expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013 for PBSO was $3 million (2012 -
$2 million; 2011 - §2 million). At December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation cost related to non-
vested stock-based compensation arrangements granted under the PBSO Plan was $11 million. The cost
is expected to be fully recognized over a weighted average period of approximately four years.

PERFORMANCE STOCK UNITS

The Company has a PSU Plan for executives where cash awards are paid following a three-year
performance cycle. Awards are calculated by multiplying the number of units outstanding at the end of the
performance period by the Company’s weighted average share price for 20 days prior to the maturity of
the grant and by a performance multiplier. The performance muitiplier ranges from zero, if the Company's
performance fails to meet threshold performance lavals, to a maximum of two if the Company performs
within the highest range of its performance targets. The 2011, 2012 and 2013 grants derive the
performance muitiplier through a calculation of the Company’s price/earnings ratio relative to a specified
peer group of companies and the Company's eamings per share, adjusted for unusual, non-operating or
non-recurring items, relative to targets established at the time of grant. To calculate the 2013 expense,
multipliers of two, based upon muitiplier estimates at December 31, 2013, were used for each of the
2011, 2012 and 2013 PSU grants.

Weighted

Average
Remaining Aggregate
Contractual Intrinsic

December 31, 2013
{units in thousands; intrinsic valus in millions of Canadian dollars}
Units outstanding at beginning of year

Units granted

Units matured’

Dividend reinvestment

Units outstanding at end of year .

1 The total amount paid during the yaare'ndod’ December31‘,' ' 58U was 348 milion (é012- £25
million).

Num er

L:ife oars Value

Compensation expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013 for PSU was $23 million {2012 -
$49 million; 2011 - $42 million). As at December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation expense related
to non-vested units granted under the PSU Plan was $28 million and is expected to be fully recognized
over a weighted average pericd of approximately two years,




RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS
Enbridge has a RSU Plan where cash awards are paid to certain non-executive amployeas of the
Company following a 38-month maturity period. RSU holders receive cash equal to the Company’s
weighted average shars price for 20 days prior to the maturity of the grant multiplied by the units
outstanding on the maturity date.
Waighted
Average
Remaining Aggregate
Contractual Intrinsic
December 31, 2013 Number  Lifa (vears Value
{units in thousands; intrinsic value in millions of Canadian doilars) -
Units outstanding at beginning of year
Units granted
Units cancelled
Units matured'
Dividend reinvestment
Units outstanding at end of year . ,
The total amount paid during the year endad Decamber 31, 2013 Tor KU was 341 million {2012 - 837 miflion: 2017 - $39
miflion).

Compensation expense recorded for the year ended December 31, 2013 for RSU was $36 million (2012 -
$32 million; 2011 - $31 milfion). As at December 31, 2013, unrecognized compensation expense related
to non-vested units granted under the RSU Plan was $46 million and is expected to be fully recognized
over a weighted average period of approximately two years,

22. COMPONENTS OF ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Changes in AOCI attributable to Enbridge common shareholders for the years ended December 31,

2013, 2012 and 2011, are as follows:

Net Cumulative
Cash Flow Investment  Translation Equity Pension and
edges  Hedges Adjustment | OPEB

{milions of Canadian dolfars)
Balance at January 1, 2013
Other comprehensive income/{loss) retained in AQC!
Other comprehensive (income)foss reclassified to eamings
Interest rate contracts’
Commaodity contracts®
Foreign exchange contracts®
Amontization of pension and OPEB actuarial loss and
prior service costs®

Tax impact
Income tax on amounts retained in AOCI
Incoma tax on amounts reclassified to eamings

Balance at Decamber 31, 2013
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Net Cumulative
Cash Flow investment Translation Equity Pension and

. Medges  Hedges Adjustment Investees OPER _ Total
{millfons of Canadian doilars)
Balanca at January 1, 2012 (476) 461 (1,167 (28) (288) (1,496)
Othar comprehansive income/(loss) retained in AOCI (172) 18 {98} 7 (15) (322)
Other comprehensiva (incomea)ioss reclassified (o eamings
interest rate contracts' ) - - - - N
Commodity contracts? (4) - - - - 4)
Foraign exchange contracts® 1 - - - . 1
Other contracts® 2 - - - - 2
Amortization of pansion and OPEB actuarial loss and
plioy sarvice costs® - ‘ - - - 23 23
{190) 16 (98) 7 (gf) (31
Tax impact
Income tax on amounts retained in AQCI 36 3) . 5) 19 47
income tax on amounts reclassified fo sarnings 9 - - - {3) 4
_ 48 (3 - (5) 14 81
Balance at December 31, 2012 . CZAD I L {1,263} e 26) (324} (1,762)
Net Cumulative
Cash Flow [nvestment Translation Equity Pension and
— _ Hedges  Hedges Adiustment Investees OPER _ Total
{millions of Canadian doflars)
Balance at January 1, 2011 (66) 4830 (1,245) “h (142)  (984)
Other comprahensive income/{joss) retained in AOCH (656} 21 78 (20} (229) (848)
Other comprahaensive (income)loss reclassified to eamings
intarast rate contracts’ 51 - - - - 51
Commodity contracts? 43 - - - - 43
Foreign exchange confracts® 1 - - - . 1
Other contracts® (2) - - - - (2)
Amortization of pension and OPEB actuarial loss and
prior service costs® - - —— - 29 29
(563) 21) 78 (20) (200} (726)
Tax impact
Income tax on amounts retained in AOCH 161 2 - 3 64 230
Income tax on amounts reclassified to eamings {8} - - - (8) _{16)
153 2 . 3 56 214
Balance at Decomber 31, 2011 (476) 461 (1,167} (28) __(286) (1.496)

8

1 Raportad within Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of E&mings.

2 Reported within Commodily costs in the Consolidated Stalements of Famings.

3 Reportad within Other incoma/(expanss) in the Consolidated Statemants of Eamings.

4 Reported within Operating and administrative expsense in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings.

5 These components are included in the computation of net periodic pension costs and are reported within Opsrating and
adminisirative expanse in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings.

23. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

MARKET PRICE RISK

The Company’s earings, cash flows and OCI are subject to movements in foreign exchange rates,
interest rates, commaodity prices and the Company's share price {collectively, market price risk). Formal
risk management policies, processes and systems have been designed to mitigate these risks,

The following summarizes the types of market price risks to which the Company is exposed and the risk
management instruments used to mitigate them. The Company uses a combination of qualifying and non-
qualifying derivative instruments t0 manage the risks noted below.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Company’'s eamnings, cash flows and OCi are subject to foreign exchange rate variability, primarily
arising from its United States dollar denominated investments and subsidiaries, and certain revenues
denominated in United States doliars and certain expenses denominated in Buros. The Company has
implemented a policy where it economically hedges a minimum level of foreign currency denominated
earnings exposures identified over a five-year forecast horizon. The Company may also hedge
anticipated foreign currency denominated purchases or salés, foreign currency denominated debt, as we
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as certain equity investment balances and net investments in foreign denominated subsidiaries. The
Company uses a combination of qualifying and non-qualifying derivative instruments to manage variability
in cash flows arising from its United States dollar investments and subsidiarigs, and primarily non-
qualifying derivative instruments to manage variability arising from certain revenues denominated in
United States dollars.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s eamings and cash flows are exposed to short term interest rate variability due to the
regular repricing of its variable rate debt, primarily commercial paper. Pay fixed-receive floating interest
rate swaps and options are used to hedge against the effect of future interest rate movements. The
Company has implemented a program to significantly mitigate the impact of short-tarm interest rate
volatility on interest expense through 2017 through execution of floating to fixed interest rate swaps with
an average swap rate of 1.5%.

The Company's earnings and cash flows are also exposed to variability in longer term interast rates
ahead of anticipated fixed rate debt issuances. Forward starting interest rate swaps are used o hedge
against the effect of future interest rate movements. The Company has implemented a program to
significantly mifigate its exposure to long-term interest rate variability on select forecast term debt
issuances through 2018. A total of $10,419 million of future fixed rate term debt issuances have been
hedged at an average swap rate of 3.8%.

The Company also monitors its debt portfolio mix of fixed and variable rate debt instruments to maintain a
consolidated portfolio of debt which stays within its Board of Directors approved policy limit of a maximum
of 28% fioating rate debt as a percentage of total debt outstanding. The Company uses primarily
qualifying derivative instruments 10 manage interest rate risk.

Commodity Price Risk

The Company’s earnings and cash flows are exposed to changes in commodity prices as a resuit of
ownership interest in certain assets and investments, as weli as through the activities of its energy
services subsidiaries. These commodities include natural gas, crude oil, power and NGL. The Company
employs financial derivative instruments to fix a portion of the variable price exposures that arise from
physical transactions involving these commodities. The Company uses primarily non-qualifying derivative
instruments to manage commodity price risk.

Equity Price Risk

Equity price risk is the risk of eamnings fluctuations due to changes in the Company’s share price. The
Company has exposure to its own common share price through the issuance of various forms of stock-
based compensation, which affect earnings through revaluation of the outstanding units every period. The
Company uses equity derivatives to manage the earnings volatility derived from one form of stock-based
compensation, restricted stock units. The Company uses a combination of qualifying and non-qualifying
derivative instruments to manage equity price risk.

TOTAL DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

The foliowing table summarizes the Statements of Financial Position location and carrying value of the
Company’s derivative instruments. The Company did not have any outstanding fair valus hedges at
December 31, 2013 or 2012.

The Company generally has a policy of entering into individual International Swaps and Derivatives
Association, Inc. (ISDA) agreements, or other similar derivative agreements, with the majority of its
derivative counterparties. These agreements provide for the net setilement of derivative instruments
outstanding with specific counterparties in the event of bankruptcy or other significant credit evant, and
would reduce the Company's credit risk exposure on derivative asset positions outstanding with the
counterparties in these particular circumstances. The following table also summarizes the maximum
potential settiement in the event of these specific circumstances. All amounts are presented gross in the
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position. - _
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Derivative

Derivative Instrumen
Instruments Used as N

ts
et

Used as Cash  Investment

Elow Hedges

ge_gem% 31, 2013
(miflions of Canadian doflars)

Accounts recaeivable and other (Note 8)

33

Foraign exchange contracts i ' Mﬁf

&

Interest rate contracts T »?*

Commeodity contracts
wnhiEr cobraCts

Defarred amounts and other assets (Note 13
Foraign exchange contracts
{nterast rate contracts
Commodity contracts
Other contracts

Accounts payable and other (Note 16)
Foreign exchange contracts
intarest rate contracts

Qthar long-term liabilitias I(Nots 18)
Foraign exchanga contracts
Interast rate contracts

Total net derivative assat/{liability)
Foreign exchange contracts
Interast rate contracts
Commeadity contracts
Cther contracts

Non-  Total Gross
Qualifying Derivative  Amounts Total Nat
Derivative  instruments  Available  Derivative
; nstiuments

Ry

Y
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Derivative
Derivative Instruments Non-  Total Gross
Instruments UsedasNet  Qualifying Derivativa  Amounts  Total Net
Used as Cash  Investment  Derivative  Instuments  Available  Derivative

December 31, 2012 Flow Hedges Hedges Instuments as Presented  for Offset instuments
{millions of Canadian dolfars)
Accounts recaivable and other (Note 8)
Foreign exchange confracts 4 16 210 230 (101) 129
Interest rate contracts 7 - 9 16 )] 7
Commodity contracts 9 - 119 128 (28) 100
contracts 3 - 6 9 - 9
23 16 ‘344 383 (138) . 245
Deferred amounts and other assets (Note 13)
Foreign exchangs contracts 11 79 225 315 (40) 275
Interast rate contracts 18 - 12 30 (25) 5
Commodity contracts 1 - 59 60 (32) 28
Other contracts 2 . 1 3 } 3
32 19 207 408 (9N 3
Accotints payable and cther (Note 18)
Foreign exchange contracts (5) - (100) {108) 101 (4)
Interest rate contracts (673) - - (673} 9 (664)
Commedity contraats . {3} - {234) {297) 28 (289)
. . _ (681 - (3949 (1 075) 138 {937)
Other long-term liabilities (Note 18) '
Foreign exchange confracts {41) {5) (23) (69} 40 (29)
Interest rate contracts (280) - {15) (305) 25 (280)
Commeodity contracts _ {2 - (38n {389) 32 {357}
. (333 ) {425) (763} 97 (666)
Total net derivative asset/{liability)
Foreign exchange contracts (31) 90 312 kTS| - 3n
Interast rate contracts (938) - 6 {932} - {932)
Commaodity contracts 5 - {503) (498) - (498)
QOthey contracts 5 - 7 12 - 12
(259) 90 {178) (1,047) - (1,047}

The following table summarizes the maturity and notional principal or quantity outstanding related to the
Company’s derivative instruments.

December 31, 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 018 Thereafter

Foreign exchange contracts - United States doltar
forwards - purchase (milions of United States dollars)

Foreign exchange contracts - United States dollar
forwards - sell {millions of United States doltars)

Foreign exchange contracts - Euro forwards - purchase
(millions of Buros}

interest rate contracts - shori-texm bormowings (mitlions
of Canadian dollars)

Interest rate contracts - long-term debt (mitions of
Canadian doliars)

Bquity contracts (milllons of Canadian dolfars)

Commuodity contracts - natural gas (bilions of cubic feet)

Commuodity contracts - crude oil (millions of barrels)

Commodlty contracts - NGL (nﬁfﬂons of barreis)
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gemmr 31, 2012 2013 2014 L2018 2016 2017 Thereafter
oreign exchange contracts - United States dollar

forwards - purchase (milions of United States doliars) 558 468 5 25 413 6
Foreign axchange contracts - United States dollar

forwards - sell (millons of United Slates dollars} 2,088 2,402 2,751 2323 2,557 158
Foreign exchange contracts - Euro forwards - purchase

{millions of uros) 6 - - - - .
Interest rate contracts - short-tarm borrowings (néllions

of Canadian doliars) 3,644 3,591 3,455 3,157 2,841 171
Interest rate contracts - long-term debt (millions of

Canadian doflars} 4,580 3,055 1,760 1,142 - -
Equity contracts (millions of Canadlan doliars) 39 36 - - - .
Commodity contracts - natural gay (biflons of cubic feet) 55 19 10 10 1 3
Commodity contracts - crude oit (miltions of barrels) 3r 38 29 23 18 9
Commodity contracts - NGL (miliions of barrels} 1 2 - - - -
Commodity contracts - power (MwH) . 81 67 48 83 83 66

The Effect of Derivative Instruments on the Statements of Earnings and Comprehensive income
The following table presents the effect of cash flow hedges and net investment hedges on the Company’s
consolidated earnings and consolidated comprehensive income, before the effect of income taxes.

Year ended Decamber 31, _ 20’%3 2012 2011

{millions of Canadian dolfars)
Amount of unrealized gains/(loss) recognized in OCI
Cash flow hedges
Foreign exchange contracts (12) (22)
Interest rate contracts (46) (724)
Commodity contracts 52 72
Other contracts {3) 6
Net investment hedges
Forsign exchange contracts 1 (26)
_ - (8) {694)
Amount of gains/(loss) reclassified from AOCI to @amings (effective portion)
Foreign exchange contracts' 1 1
Interest rate contracts® 1 (10)
Commodity contracts® (3) (55)
Other contracts® 2 (2)
: : {1) (68)
Amount of gains/(ioss) reclassified from AOCI to eamings (ineflective portion
and amount excluded from effectivoness testing)
Interest rate contracts® 23 11
Commodity contracts® (3) 5
20 16

T Reportad within Other income/(expanse} in the Consolidated "Statomants of gamings,
2 Reported within Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings.
3 Raported within Commuodity costs in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings.
4 Reported within Operating and administrative expense in the Consclidated Statements of Earmnings.

The Company estimates that $135 million of AQC! related to cash flow hedges will be reclassified to
earnings in the next 12 months. Actual amounts reclassified to earnings depend on the foreign exchange
rates, interest rates and commodity prices in effect when derivative contracts that are currently
outstanding mature. For all forecasted transactions, the maximum term over which the Company is
hedging exposures to the variability of cash flows is 48 months at December 31, 2013.
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Non-Qualifying Derivatives

The following table presents the unrealized gains and losses associated with changes in the fair value of
the Company’s non-qualifying derivatives.

Year ended December 31, 2012 2011
(millions of Canadian doflars)

Foreign exchange contracts’ 120 (179)
interest rate contracts? (2 9

Commodity contracts® (765) 280

Other contracts* (2 4

_ 849) 114
eported within Transportation and other services revenues (2073 - $35¢ million loss. 20 5150 million gain; 2017 -

million loss) and Other income/expense) (2013 - $386 million loss; 2012 - $30 million loss; 2011 - $102 million loss} in the

Consolidated Statemsnis of Barnings.

2 Reported within Interest expense in the Consolidated Statements of Bamings.

3 Reportad within Transportation and other services revenues (2013 - $375 million loss; 2012 - 8681 miffion loss; 2011 - $216
million gain), Commodity costs (2013 - $35 million loss; 2012 - $21 million loss; 2011 - $61 million gain) and Operaling and
administrative expense (2013 - $88 million loss; 2012 - $63 million loss; 2011 - $3 million gain) in the Consolidated Statements
of Eamings.

4 Reported within Operating and administrative expense in the Consolidated Statements of Bamings.

LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations, including
commitments and guarantees, as they become due. In order to manage this risk, the Company forecasts
cash requirements over a 12 month rolling time period to determine whether sufficient funds will be
available. The Company’s primary sources of liquidity and capital resources are funds generated from
operations, the issuance of commercial paper and draws under committed credit facilities and long-term
debt, which includes debentures and medium-term notes. The Company maintains current shelf
prospectuses with securities regulators, which enables, subject to market conditions, ready access to
either the Canadian or United States public capital markets. In addition, the Company maintains sufficient
fiquidity through committed credit facilities with a diversified group of banks and institutions which, if
necessary, enables the Company to fund all anticipated requirements for approximately one year without
accessing the capital markets. The Company is in compliance with all the terms and conditions of its
committed credit facilities at December 31, 2013. As a result, alf credit facilities are available to the
Company and the banks are obligated to fund and have been funding the Company under the terms of
the facilities (Note 17).

-

CREDIT RISK

Entering into derivative financial instruments may result in exposure to credit risk. Credit risk arises from
the possibility that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations. The Company enters into risk
management transactions primarily with institutions that possess investment grade credit ratings. Credit
risk relating to derivative counterparties is mitigated by credit exposure limits and contractual
requirements, frequent assessment of counterparty credit ratings and netting arrangements,

The Company had group credit concentrations and maximum credit aexposure, with respect to derivative
instruments, in the following counterpaity segments:

December 31, 2013
(millions of Canadian dollars)

Canadian financial institutions
United States financial institutions
European financial institutions
Other'

- 1 Ctharis comprised of commod?ty clearing house and physical natural gas and oriide of counterpartias.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had provided letters of credit totalling $81 million in lieu of
providing cash collateral to its counterparties pursuant to the terms of the relevant ISDA agreements. The
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Company held $18 million of cash collaterat on derivative asset exposures at December 31, 2013 and
held no cash collateral at December 31, 2012.

Gross derivative balances have been presented without the effacts of collateral posted. Derivative assets
are adjusted for non-performance risk of the Company’s counterparties using their credit defauit swap
spread rates, and are reflected in the fair value. For derivative liabilities, the Company’s non-performance
risk is considered in the valuation.

Credit risk also arises from trade and other long-term receivables, and is mitigated through credit
exposurs limits and contractual requirements, assessment of credit ratings and netting arrangements.
Within Gas Distribution, cradit risk is mitigated by the large and diversified customer base and the ability
to recover an estimate for doubtful accounts through the ratemaking process. The Company actively
monitors the financial strength of large industrial customers and, in select cases, has obtained additional
security to minimize the risk of default on receivables. Generaily, the Company classifies and provides for
receivables older than 30 days as past due. The maximum exposure o credit risk related to non-
derivative financial assets is their carrying value.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Company's financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis include
derivative instruments. The Company also discloses the fair value of other financial instruments not
measured at fair value. The fair value of financial instruments reflects the Company’s best estimates of
market value based on generally accepted valuation techniques or models and are supported by
observable market prices and rates. When such values are not available, the Company uses discounted
cash flow analysis from applicable yield curves based on observable market inputs to estimate fair value.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Company categorizes its derivative instruments measured at fair value into one of three different
levels depending on the observability of tha inputs employed in the measurement.

Level 1

Leveil 1 includes derivatives measured at fair value based on unadjusted quoted prices for identical
assets and liabilities in active markets that are accessible at the maasurement date. An active market for
a derivative is considered to be a market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume
to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis. The Company's Level 1 instruments consist primarily
of exchange-traded derivatives used to mitigate the risk of crude oil price fluctuations.

Level 2

Leval 2 includes derivative valuations determined using directly or indirectly observabie inputs other than
quoted prices included within Level 1. Derivatives in this category are valued using models or other
industry standard vaiuation techniques derived from observable market data. Such valuation techniques
include inputs such as quoted forward prices, time value, volatility factors and broker quotes that can be
observed or corroborated in the market for the entire duration of the derivative. Derivatives valued using
Lavel 2 inputs include non-exchange traded derivatives such as over-the-counter foreign exchange
forward and cross currency swap contracts, interest rate swaps, physical forward commodity contracts, as
well as commodity swaps and options for which observable inputs can be obtained.

The Company has aiso categorized the fair value of its held to maturity preferred share investment and
jong-term debt as Level 2. The fair value of the Company’s held to maturity preferred share investment is
primarily based on the yield of certain Government of Canada bonds. The fair vaiue of the Company’s
long-term debt is based on quoted market prices for instruments of similar yield, credit risk and tenor.

Level 3 .

Level 3 includes derivative valuations based on inputs which are less observable, unavailabie or where
the obsarvable data does not support a significant portion of the derivatives’ fair value. Generally, Level 3
derivatives are longer dated transactions, occur in less active markets, occur at locations where pricing
information is not available or have no binding broker quote to suppoit Level 2 classification. The
Company has developed methodologies, benchmarked against industry standards, to determine fair
value for these derivatives based on extrapolation of ohservabie future prices and rates. Derivatives
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valued using Level 3 inputs primarily include long-dated derivative power contracts and NGL and natural
gas contracts, basis swaps, commodity swaps, power and energy swaps, as well as options. The
Company does not have any other financial instruments categorized in Leve! 3.

The Company uses the most observable inputs available to estimate the fair value of its derivatives.
When possible, the Company estimates the fair value of its derivatives based on quoted market prices. If
quoted market prices are not available, the Company uses estimates from third party brokers. For non-
exchange traded derivatives classified in Levels 2 and 3, the Company uses standard valuation
techniques to calculate the estimated fair value. These methods include discounted cash flows for
forwards and swaps and Black-Scholas-Merton pricing models for options. Depending on the type of
derivative and nature of the underlying risk, the Company uses observable market prices (interest, foreign
exchange, commodity and share price) and volatility as primary inputs to these valuation techniques.
Finaily, the Company considers its own credit default swap spread as well as the credit default swap
spreads associated with its counterparties in its estimation of fair value.

Fair Value of Derivatives
The Company has categorized its derivative assets and liabilities measured at fair value as follows:

Total Gross
Derivative
Dacamber 31, 2013
{miliions of Canadian dollars)
Financial agsets

Current derivative assefs
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate contracts
Commuodity contracts
Other contracts

Long-term derivative assets
Foreign exchange contracts
interest rate contracts
Commodity contracts
Other contracts

Financial liabilities
Cutrent derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate contracts

Gommeodity contracts

Long-term derivative liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts
interast rate confracts
Commodity contracts

Total net financial asset/(liability)
Foreign exchange contracts
Interest rate contracts
Commodity contracts
Other contracts
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Tota! Gross

Derivative
December 31, 2012 Leval 1 Lavel 2 Lavel 3 Instrumants
(millions of Canadian dolfars)
Financial assets
Curent derivative assets
Foreign exchange contracts - 230 . 230
Interest rate contracts - 16 M 16
Commodity confracts 3 7 118 128
Other contracts " 2 - 9
3 262 118 383
Long-term derivativa assets
Forsign exchanga contracis - 318 - us
Interest rate contracts - 30 - 30
Commadity contracts - 51 9 60
Other contracts - 3 - 3
= : 359 ) 308
Financial liabilities
Current darivative liabilities
Foraign axchange contracts - {105) - {108)
intarest rate contracts - {673) - (673)
Commodity contracts 9) {212) {;5) (22'?_
- (9) {990) {76) {1,075)
Long-term derivativa liabilitiss
Forgign axchange contracts - (69) - (69)
Interast rate contracts - (308) - (305)
Commodity contracts - (314) gg_; (389)
_ - (638) (763)
Total net financial asset/{liahility)
Foreign exchange coniracts - 371 - 3N
Intevest rate contracts - {932 - {932)
Commedity contracts )] {468) (24) {498)
Other contracts - 12 o 12
(6) (1.017) (24) (1,047)

Thae significant unobservabie inputs used in the fair value measurement of Level 3 derivative instruments

werea as follows:

Unobservable Minimum  Maximum Weighted
December 31, 2013 Fair Value Input Price Price _ Average Price
(Tair value in millions of Canadian dolffars)
Commodity contracts - financial'
Natural gas 4 Forward gas price 364 5.18 437  S/mmbtu’
Crude 1 Forward crude price 67.52 103.86 72.84 $tharrel
NGL. (8) Forward NGL price 1.00 228 1.53 $/gallon
Power (141) Forward power price 43.50 87.67 5762 $IMWH
Commodity contracts - physical'
Natural gas (22}  Forward gas price 3.36 5.29 418  $/mmbtu’
Crude (10) Forward crude price 64.73 113.19 92.15 $/barre}
NGL 4 Forward NGL price 0.02 2.68 159 $/galion
Power (1) Forward powear price 3240 3898 3507 $IMWH
Commodity options®
Natural gas 2 Option volatility 25% 31% 28%
NGL 7 Option volatility 22% 44% 31%

(164)

T Financialand physical forward commodity contracts are valuad usfng 2 market approach vaiuation toéhnique‘
2 Commodily oplions contracts are valted using an option model valuation tachnique.

3 One million British thermal units {mmblu).

if adjusted, the significant unobservable inputs disclosed in the table above would have a direct impact on
the fair value of the Company's Level 3 derivative instruments. The significant unobservable inputs used
in the fair value measurement of Level 3 derivative instruments include forward commodity prices and, for
option contracts, price volatility. Changes in forward commodity prices could result in significantly different
fair values for the Company's Level 3 derivatives. Changes in price volatility would change the valueg of
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the option contracts. Generally speaking, a change in the estimate of forward commodity prices is
unrelated to a change in the estimate of price volatility.

Changes in net fair value of derivative assets and fiabilities classified as Level 3 in the fair vaiue hierarchy
were as follows:

Year ended December 31, _ 2013 2012
{millions of Canadian dollars) ' '
Lavel 3 net derivative asset/(liability) at beginning of period
Total gains/(loss)

Included in eamings’

Included in OCI
Settlements
Level 3 net derivative liability at end of period o (1684) 24

1 Raported within Transportation and other services revenues, Commodiy costs and apemtmg and administrative expenss in the
Consolidated Statements of Eamings.

The Company’s policy is to recognize transfers as of the last day of the reporting period. There were no
transfers between levels as at December 31, 2013 or 2042,

FAIR VALUE OF OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company recognizes equity investments in other entities not categorized as held to maturity at fair
value, with changes in fair value recorded in OCI, unless actively quoted prices are not available for fair
value measurement in which case these investments are racorded at cost. The carrying value of all equity
investments recognized at cost totalled $103 million at December 31, 2013 (2012 - $68 million).

The Company has a held to maturity preferred share investment carried at its amortized cost of $287
million at December 31, 2013 (2012 - $246 million). These preferred shares are entitled to a cumulative
preferred dividend based on the average yield of Government of Canada bonds maturing in greater than
10 years plus a range of 4.3% t0 4.4%. At December 31, 2013, the fair value of this preferred share
investment approximates its face value of $580 million (2012 - $380 million).

At December 31, 2013, the Company’s long-term debt had a carrying value of $25,168 million (2012 -
$20,855 million) and a fair value of $27,469 million (2012 - $24,809 million).
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24. INCOME TAXES

INCOME TAX RATE RECONCILIATION
Year ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011

{millions of Canadian dollars}

Eamings befora income taxes, discontinued operations and

extraordinary loss 1,188 2,012
Canadian federal statutory income tax rate 15% 16.5%
Expected federal taxes at statutory rate 178 332
increase/(decrease) resulting from:

Provincial and state income taxes a7 126

Foreign and other statutory rate differentials’ (69) 130

Effects of rate-regulated accounting (38) (15)

Foreign allowable interest deductions (24) {19}

Part Vi.1 tax, net of federal Part | deduction® 19 1

Intercompany sale of investment® 33 59

Noncontrolling interests {32) (62)

Qther® _— _ 7 (29)
income taxes on earnings before discontinued operations and
L Extraordinary loss 1 323

Effective income tax rate . _ o 20.0% 14.4%  26.0%
8 effactive incoms tax rate for 2012 reflected signfﬁcant lossas refating to cerfain risk managament activities in the Company
Unitad States operations and the highar United Stales federal statulory rate over the Canadian faderal statutory rate. The losses

did not persist to the same extent in 2013.

2 Rapresents Part V1.1 tax on preference share dividend distributions, net of an allowed faderal deduction. For 2013, this tax was
prasented net of an 311 million fedoaral tax recovery relatsd lo changes to tax law enacted during the ysar.

3 in Dacember 2012 and Qctober 2011, Enbridge and certain wholly-owned subsidiaries of Enbridge sold certain assels to the
Fund. As these transactions occurred between entifies under common control of the Company, tha intercompany gains realized
as a result of these transfers were eliminated, although tax expense of 356 million and $98 million remained as a charge to
earnings in 2012 and 2011, respectively, of which the fedaral tax component was $33 miflion and $59 million. The Company
ratains the benafit of cash taxes paid in the form of increased tax basis of its investment in the underilying entities; howaver,
accounting recognition of such benefit is not permitted until such time as the entities are sold outside of the consclidated group.

4 Othar for 2013 includes $55 million refated to the federal component of the tax effect of adjustments related to prior periods.

Comparative figures within the income tax reconcitiation for 2012 and 2011 have been revised to conform
to the presentation followed for the current year. In 2013, a preferable presentation format was adopted
which calculates expected taxes using a federal statutory rate as opposed to a combined federal and
provincial rate. This format is preferable as it is more commonly used by companies following U.S. GAAP,

COMPONENTS OF PRETAX EARNINGS AND INCOME TAXES

Year endad December 31, 2013 2012 2011

{millions of Canadian dofiars) TR

Eamings before income taxes, discontinued opsarations and
extracrdinary 10ss

Canada 1,037 683
United States (58) 1,196
Other 207 133
1,188 2012
Current income taxes ‘
Canada 130 194
United States 35 (30)
Qther 3 &)
168 138
Deferred income taxes
Canada 160 30
United States (187) 335
3

Income taxes on earnings before discontinued operations and
extraordinary loss

365

171
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COMPONENTS OF DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences of differences between
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Major components of deferred
income tax assets and habilities are:

December 31,
{millions of Canadian dolfars)
Deferrad income tax liabilities

2013 01

Property, plant and equipment {1,289)
Investments {1,387)
Regulatory assets {221)
Other 144
Total deferred income tax liabilities 3,081)
Deferrad income tax assets
Financial instruments 280
Pension and OPEB plans 180
Loss carryforwards 161
Other 81
Total deferred income tax assets ¥

Less vatuation allowance
Total deferred income tax assets, nat
Net deferred income tax liabilities
Presented as follows:
Assets
Accounts receivable and other (Note 8)
Deferred income taxes
Total deferred income tax assets
Liabilities
Deferred income taxes
Total deferred income tax liabilities
Net deferred income tax liabilities

Valuation allowances have been established for certain loss and credit carryforwards that reduce deferred
income tax assets to an amount that will more likely than not be realized.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company recognized the benefit of unused tax loss carryforwards of $322
mitiion (2012 - $183 million) in Canada which start to expire in 2029 and beyond.

As at December 31, 2013, the Company recognized the benefit of unused tax loss carryforwards of $34
million (2012 - $222 million) in the United States which expire in 2032.

The Company has not provided for deferred income taxes on $573 million (2012 - $548 million) of foreign
subsidiaries’ undistributed earnings as at December 31, 2013 as such eamings are intended to be
indefinitely reinvested in the operations of these foreign subsidiaries. Upon distribution of these eamings
in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would ba subject to income taxes in the United
States. It is not practicable to determine the income tax liability that might bs incurred if these earnings
wars to be distributed,

The Company and one or more of its subsidiaries are subject to taxation in Canada, the United States
and other foreign jurisdictions. The material jurisdictions in which the Company is subjact to potential
examinations include the United States (federal and Texas) and Canada (federal, Alberta, Ontario and
Quebec). The Company’s 2008 and 2008 to 2013 taxation years are still open for audit in Canadian
jurisdictions, whereas 2009 to 2013 taxation years are open for audit in United States jurisdictions. The
Company is not currently under examination for income tax matters in any jurisdiction where it is subject
to income tax. ' S '
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UNRECOGNIZED TAX BENEFITS
Year ended Dacember 31, 2013 2012
(mittions of Canadian dollars) e
Unrecognized tax benefits at beginning of year

Gross increasas for tax positions of current year

Gross increases/{decraases) for tax positions of prior years
Reduction for lapse of statute of limitations

Unrecognized tax benefits at end of year

The unrecognized tax henefits as at December 31, 2013, if recognized, would affect the Company’s
effactive income tax rate. The gross increases for tax positions taken in the current year are in respect of
the computation of Texas Margin Tax. The gross decreases for tax positions of prior years {argely relates
to filing positions that wera based on substantively enacted legisiation pertaining to Part V1.1 tax that
bacame enacted in the second quarter of 2013,

The Company recognizes accrued interest and penaities related to unrecognized tax benefits as a
component of income taxes. Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2013 included a $5
miltion recovery (2012 - $1 million expense; 2011 - $1 million expense) of interest and penaities. The
recovery of interast and penalties is substantially attributed to interest that was previously accrued on a
filing position that is now statute-barred. As at December 31, 2013, interest and penaities of $5 million
(2012 - $10 million) have been accrued.

25. RETIREMENT AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

PENSION PLANS

The Company has three registered pension plans which provide either defined benefit or defined
contribution pension benefits, or both, to employees of the Company. The Canadian Plans provide
Company funded defined benefit pension and/or defined contribution benefits to Canadian employees of
Enbridge. The Enbridge United States pension plan (the United States Plan} provides Company funded
defined benefit pension benefits for United States based employees. The Company has four
supplemental pension plans which provide pension benefits in excess of the basic plans for certain
employaes.

A measurement date of Decamber 31, 2013 was used to determine the plan assets and accrued benefit
obligation for the Canadian and United States plans.

Defined Benefit Plans

Benefits payable from the defined benefit plans are based on members’ years of service and final
average remuneration. These benefits are partially inflation indexed after a member's retirement. In 2013,
the mortality assumptions were revised for the Canadian Plans resuliing in an increase to pension
iiabilities of $58 million. Contributions by the Company ara made in accardance with independent
actuarial valuations and are invested primarily in publicly-traded equity and fixed income securities. The
effective dates of the most recent actuarial valuations and the next required actuarial valuations for the
basic pians are as follows:

Effective Date of Most Recently  Effective Date of Next Required

Filed Actuarial Valuation .. Actuarial Valuation

Canadian Plans : ' '
Liquids Pipelines Dacember 31, 2012 December 31, 2013
Gas Distribution September 1, 2013 September 1, 2016
United States Plan __January 1, 2013 January 1, 2014

Defined Contribution Plans
Contributions are generally based on the employae’s age, years of service and remuneration. For defined
contribution plans, benefit costs equal amounts required to bé contributed by the Company.




OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEPITS
OPEB primarily includes supplemental health and dental, health spending account and life insurance
coverage for qualifying retired employees.

BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS AND FUNDED STATUS
The following tables detail the changes in the benefit obligation, the fair value of plan assets and the
recorded asset or liability for the Company’s defined benefit pension plans and OPEB plans using the
accrual method.

P :l.l.:‘fh',a 7 U P 4]
December 31, , 2013 2012 20 2012
(millions of Canadian dollars)
Change in accrued benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 243
Service cost 8
Interest cost 10

1
14

Employees' contributions

Actuarial (gains)/loss

Benefits paid

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes
Other

gneﬂt obligation at end of year
nge in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year

Actual return on plan assets

Employer's contributions

Employees' contributions

Benefits paid

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes

Other _
Fair value of plan assets at end of year
Underfunded status at end of year
Presented as follows:

Deferred amounts and other assets

Accounts payable and other

Other long-term liabilities (Note 18)

T Assels of 827 milion (5515 - 319 mi!?:on) are held byﬂompany in trust accounts that back non-registered supplements
pension plans benefitting United States plan participants. Due to United States tax regulations, these assets are not restricied
from creditors and therefore the Company is unable to include these balances in plan assets for accounting purposes. However,
these assets are committed for the future settlement of non-registered supplemental pension plan obligations included in the
underfunded status as at the end of the year.

The weighted average assumptions made in the measurement of the projected benefit obligations of the -
pension plans and OPEB are as follows:

Year ended December 31,
Discount rate
Average rate of salary increases

40% 4.4%
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NET BENEFIT COSTS RECOGNIZED

Pension
Year ended December 31, 0 2011
{miflions of Canacian doffars)
Benefits eamed during the year 84 6
Interest cost on projected benefit obligations 14 11
Expected returm on plan assets (93) 3)
Amortization of prior service costs 2 1
Amortization of actuariat loss 51 o
Net defined banefit costs on an accrual basis 118 16
Defined contribution benefit costs 4 -
Net henefit cost recognized in the

Coensolidated Statements of Earnings 122 16
Amount recognized in OCI:

Net actuarial (gains)/ioss’ 42 29
Nt prior serwce cost!(cre(ut)2 - (1)
Total [ in OCI SANsy 42 3
Total amount reco ni ad in Compreheansive income ¢ {22F 164 44

1 Unamortized actuarial losses included in AOCI, before tax, ware 3248 million (2012 - $388 ruihon re!atmg to the pansion plans

and $11 million (2012 - $60 million) relating to OPEB at December 31, 2013.
2 Unamortized prior service costs includaed in AOCI, before tax, were 36 million {2012 - 34 million) relating to OPEB at Decamber
31, 2013

Tha Company estimates that approximately $12 million related to pension plans and $1 million related to
OPEB at December 31, 2013 wili be reclassified from AOCI into eamings in the naxt 12 months.

Regulatory adjustments are recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings, the Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income and the Consolidated Statements of Financial Position to reflect
the difference between pension expanse for accounting purposes and pension expense for ratemaking
purposes. Offsetting regulatory assets or liabilities are recorded to the extent pension or OPEB costs or
gains are expected to be collected from or refunded to customers in future rates (Note 6). For the year
ended December 31, 2013, an offsetting regulatory asset of $3 million (2012 - $22 million) has been
recorded to the extent pension and OPEB costs are expected to be collected from customers in future
rates.

The weighted average assumptions made in the measurement of the cost of the pension plans and
OPEB are as follows:

Pension
Year ended Dacember 31, 2013 2012 2011
Discount rate i 45% 5.6%
Average rate of return on pension plan assets 71% 7.3%
Averags rate of salary increases 35% 35%

OPEB
2013 2012 2011
h. 44%  55%
6.0% 6.0%

MEDICAL COST TRENDS
The assumed rates for the next year used to measure the expected cost of benefits are as follows:

Medical Cost Trend Ultimate Medical Year in which Ultimate
Rate Assumption Cost Trend Rate  Medical Cost Trend Rate
, for Next Fiscal Year Assumption  Assumption is Achieved

Canadian Plans
Drugs 8.3% 4.5% 2029
Other Medical 4.5% - -
United States Plan 7.4% 4.5% gggg

A 1% increase in the assumed medical care trend rate would result in an increase of $30 million in the
benefit obligation and an increase of $2 million in benefit and interast costs. A 1% decrease in the

assumed medical care trend rate would resuit in 3 decrease of $28 million in the benefit obligation and a‘

decrease of $2 million in benefit and interest costs.
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PLAN ASSETS

The Company manages the investment risk of its pension funds by setting a long-term asset mix policy
for each plan after consideration of: (i) the nature of pension plan liabilities; (i) the investment horizon of
the plan; (iii) the going concern and solvency funded status and cash flow requirements of the plan; (iv)
the operating environment and financial situation of the Company and its ability to withstand fluctuations
in pension contributions; and (v) the future economic and capital markets outlook with respect to
investment returns, volatility of returns and correlation between assets. The overall expected rate of
return is based on the asset allocation targets with estimates for returns on equity and debt securities

based on long-term expectations.

Expected Rate of Return on Plan Assets

Year ended December 31,
Canadian Plans
United States Plan
Target Mix for Plan Assets
Canadian Plans
Liquids Pipelines Gas Distribution United States

, _ _Pian Plan Plan
Equity securities ' 62.5% 53.5% 62.5%
Fixed income securities 30.0% 40.0% 30.0%
Other 7.5% ~ 8.5% 7.5%

Major Categories of Plan Assets

Plan assets are invested primarily in readily marketable investments with constraints on the credit quality
of fixed income securities. As at December 31, 2013, the pension assets were invested 58.0% (2012 -
59.1%) in equity securities, 31.0% (2012 - 32.4%) in fixed income securities and 11.0% (2012 - 8.5%) in
other. The QPEB assets were invested 59.3% (2012 - 58.1%) in equity securities, 38.3% (2012 - 35.5%)
in fixed income securities and 2.4% (2012 - 8.4%) in other,

The following table summarizes the Company's pension financial instruments at fair valus. Non-financial

instruments with a carrying vaiue of $1 million asset (2012 - $15 million liability) and refundable tax assets
of $85 million {2012 - $76 million) have been excluded from the table below.
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2013 2012 _
December 31, B evel 1' Lovel 2* Loval 3 Total Level1' Level2’ Level3° Total
{millions of Canadian dollars)
Pension
Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed income securities
Canadian governmaent bonds
Corporate bonds and debentures

44 . - 44
87 . - 87

Canadian comorate bond index fund 198 - - 196
Canadian government bond index fund 182 - - 152
United States debt index fund 45 2 - 47
Equity
Canadian equity securities 190 - « 180
United Stales equity securities 24 . - 24
Global equity securities 9 . - 9
Canadian equity funds 64 39 - 103
United States equity funds 60 26 - 86
Global equity funds 255 159 - 414
Infrastructure® - - 81 8

Real estate®
Forward currency contracts
OPEB
Cash and cash equivalents
Fixed income securities
United States government and

government agency bonds 22 . - 22
Equity
United States equity funds 17 19 - 38

Global equity funds KLy ie
Lavel 1 assets include assets with quoled pricas in active markets for i
Level 2 assets include assefs with significant cbservable inpuls.

Lavel 3 assots include assets with significant unobservable inputs.
The fair value of the investrnant in United States Limited Partnership - Global Infrastructure Fund is establishsd through the use
of valuation modsls.

Thae fair valua of tha investments in Bentall Kennedy Prime Canadian Properly Fund Ltd and AEW Core Property Trust are
aestablished through the use of valuation models.

ntical assets.

th -

Changes in the net fair value of plan assets classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy were as
follows:

2013 2012
{millions of Canadian dollars)
Balance at beginning of year 68
Unrealized and realized gains 11
Purchases and settlements, net 8
Balance at end of year 3

Plan Contributions by the Company

Pension QPEB
Year ended December 31, 2013 ) )
(millions of Canadian doliars) '
Total contributions

Contributions expected to be paid i_n :2914:

Benefits Expected to be Paid by the Company

Year ended December 31, 2014 2018 2018 2017 2018 2019-2023
{millions of Canadian dollars) - 5
Expected future benefit payments 80 85 90 95 101 s

58



26. OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSE)

Year ended December 31, 2013 2012 2011
(millions of Canadian dolfars) ‘
Net foreign currency gains/(loss) i 48
Allowance for equity funds used during construction 1 3
Interest income on affifiate loans 20 17
Interest income 7 3
Noverco preferred shares dividend income 42 30
Gain on disposition (Note 7) - -
OPEB recovery (Note 6) 89 -
Other 8 15
238 116
27. CHANGES IN OPERATING ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Year ended Decamber 31, 2012 2011
{millions of Canadian doliars)
Accounts receivable and other (122) 121
Accounts receivable from affiliates 43 (17)
inventory 42 23
Deferred amounts and other assets (380) (322)
Accounts payable and cther (319) 421
Accounts payable to affiliates (48) 41
Interest payable 18 7
Other long-term liabilities 109 57
(660) 401

28. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

All related party transactions are provided in the normal course of business and, unless otherwisa noted,
are measured at the exchange amount, which is the amount of consideration established and agreed to
by the ralated parties,

Vector, a joint venture, contracts the services of Enbridge to operate the pipeline. Amounts for these
services, which are charged at cost in accordance with service agreements were $8 million for the year
ended December 31, 2013 (2012 - $6 million; 2011 - $8 million).

Certain wholly-owned subsidiaries within Gas Distribution and Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy
Services have transportation commitments with several joint venture affiliates that are accounted for
using the equity method. Total amounts charged for transportation services for the year ended December
31, 2013 were $222 million {2012 - $127 million; 2011 - $106 million).

Additionally, certain wholly-owned subsidiaries within Gas Pipelines, Processing and Energy Services
made natural gas purchases of $92 miltion {2012 - $15 million; 2011 - nil) and sales of $10 million (2012 -
$7 million; 2011 - $5 million) with several joint venture affiliates during the year ended December 31,
2013,

LONG-TERM NOTE RECEIVABLE FROM AFFILIATE _

Amounts receivable from affiliates include a series of loans to Vector totalling $181 million (2012 - $178
million), included in Deferred amounts and other assets, which requira quarterly interest payments at
annual interest rates ranging from 3% to 8%.
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29. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

COMMITMENTS

The Company has signed contracts that primarily relate to the purchase of services, pipe and other
materials, as well as transportation, totalling $10,232 million which are expacted to be paid within the next
five years and $3,115 million in total for years thereafter.

Minimum future payments under operating leases are estimated at $817 million in aggregate. Estimated
annual lease payments for the years ending Decembar 31, 2014 through 2018 are $116 million, $111
million, $108 million, $98 million and $52 million, respactively, and $332 million thereafter. Total rental
expense for operating leases, included in Operating and administrative expense, were $49 miliion, $31
million and $28 million for the years ended December 31, 2013, 2012 and 2011, respectively.

ENVIRONMENTAL LIABILITIES

As at December 31, 2013, the Company had $260 million (2012 - $107 million) included in current
liabilities and $27 million (2012 - $18 million} included in Other long-terns liabilities which have been
accrued for costs incurred primarily to address remediation of contaminated sites, asbestos containing
materials, management of hazardous waste material disposal, outstanding air guality measures for
certain liquids and natural gas assets and known fines or penaities.

ENBRIDGE ENERGY PARTNERS, L.P.

Enbridge holds an approximate 20.68% (2012 - 21.8%; 2011 - 23.0%) combined direct and indirect
ownership interest in BEP, which is consolidated with noncontroliing interests within the Sponsored
Investments segment.

Lakehead System Line 14 Crude Oil Release

On July 27, 2012, a release of crude oil was detected on Line 14 of EEP's Lakehead System near Grand
Marsh, Wisconsin. The estimated volume of oil released was approximately 1,700 barrels. EEP received a
Corractive Action Order (CAQ) from the Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety Administration (PHMSA)
on July 30, 2012, followed by an amended CAQO on August 1, 2012. Upon restart of Line 14 on August 7,
2012, PHMSA restricted the operating pressure to 80% of the pressure in place at the time immediately
prior to the incident. During the fourth quarter of 2013, EEP received approval from the PHMSA to remove
the pressure restrictions and to return to normal operating pressures for a period of 12 months. In
Dacember 2014, the PHMSA will again consider the status of the pipeline in light of information they
acquire throughout 2014,

The total estimated cost for the Line 14 crude oil release remains at approximately US$10 mitiion ($1
milion after-tax attributable to Enbridge), inclusive of approximately US$2 million of lost revenue and
excluding any fines and penalties. Despite the efforts EEP has made to ensure the reasonableness of ils
estimate, changes {0 the estimated amounts associated with this release are possible as more reliable
information becomes available. EEP will be pursuing claims under Enbridge’s comprehensive insurance
policy, aithough it does not expect any recoveries to be significant.

Lakehead System Lines 6A and 6B Crude Qil Releases

Line 68 Crude 0il Release

On July 26, 2010, a release of crude oil on Line 68 of EEP's Lakehead System was reported near
Marshall, Michigan. EBP estimates that approximately 20,000 barrels of crude oil were leaked at the site,
a portion of which reached the Taimadge Creek, a waterway that feeds the Kalamazoo River. The
released crude oil affected approximately 61 kilometres (38 miles) of shoreline along the Talmadge Creek
and Kalamazoo River waterways, including residential areas, businessas, farmiand and marshland
between Marshall and downstream of Battle Creak, Michigan. In response to the release, a unified
command structure was established under the jurisdiction of the Environmenta! Protection Agency (EPA),
the Michigan Department of Natural Resources and Environment and other federal, state and local
agencies.

As at December 31, 2013, EEP's total cost estimate for the Line 88 crude oil release was US$1,122
million ($181 million after-tax attributable to Enbridge) which is an increase of US$302 million ($44 million
after-tax attributable to Enbridge) compared to the December 31, 2012 estimate. This total estimate is
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before insurance recoveries and excludes additional fines and penalties other than US$30 million
discussed beiow. On March 14, 2013, EEP received an order from the EPA (the Order) which defined the
scope requiring additional containment and active recovery of submerged oil relating to the Line 6B crude
oil release. EEP submitted its initial proposed work plan required by the EPA on April 4, 2013 and
resubmitted the work plan on April 23, 2013. The EPA approved the Submerged Oil Recovery and
Assessment (SORA} work plan with modification on May 8, 2013. EEP incorporated the modification and
submitted an approved SORA on May 13, 2013. The Order states the work must be completed by
December 31, 2013. EEP has currently completed substantially ail of the SORA, with the exception of
required dredging in and around Morrow Lake and its deita. BEP is in the process of working with the
EPA to ensure this work is completed as soon as reasonably possible, inclusive of obtaining the
necessary state and local permitting that is required and considering weather conditions.

Of the USE302 million increase compared with December 31, 2012 related to the Line 6B crude oil
release, US$280 million is primarily related to additional work required by the Qrder including further
refinement and definition of the additional dredging scope per the Order and all associated environmental,
permnitting, waste removal and other related costs, as well as increased dredge activity in and around
Morrow Lake and the deita area. The actual costs incurred may differ from the foregoing estimate as EEP
completes the work pian with the BPA related to the Order and works with other regulatory agencias to
assura its work plan compiies with their requirements. Any such incremental costs will not be recovered
under BEP's insurance policies as the costs for the incident at December 31, 2013 exceeded the limits of
the Company’s insurance coverage. The remaining increase of US$22 million reflected an estimate of the
minimum amount of civil penalties BEP may be assessed under the Clean Water Act of the United States
(Clean Water Act) in respact of the Line 6B crude oil release.

Expected losses associated with the Line 6B crude oil release included those costs that were considered
probable and that could he reasonably estimated at December 31, 2013. Despite the efforts EEP has
made to ensure the reasonableness of its estimates, there continues to be the potential for EEP to incur
additional costs in connection with this crude oil release due to variations in any or ali of the cost
categories, including modified or revised requirements from regulatory agencies, in addition to fines and
penalties and expenditures associated with litigation and settlement of claims.

Line 6A Crude Qil Release

A release of crude oil from Line 6A of EEP's Lakehead System was reported in an industrial area of
Romeovilla, lllinois on September 9, 2010. EEP estimatas that approximately 9,000 barrels of crude oil
were released, of which approximately 1,400 barrels were removed from the pipeline as part of the repair.
Some of the released crude oll went onto a roadway, into a storm sewer, a waste water treatment facility
and then into a nearby retention pond. All but a small amount of the crude oil was recovered. BEP
completed excavation and replacement of the pipeline segment and returned it to service on September
17, 2010.

EBP continues to monitor the areas affected by the crude oil release from Line 6A of its Lakehead
System for any additional requirements; however, the cleanup, remediation and restoration of the areas
affected by the retease have been completed. On Octoher 21, 2013, the National Transportation Safety
Board publicly posted their final report related to the Line BA crude oil release that occurred in
Romeoville, lilinois, which states the probable cause of the crude oil release was erosion caused by a
leaking water pipe resulting from an improperly installed third-party water service line below EEP’s oil
pipeline.

The total estimated cost for the Line 6A crude oil release remains at approximately US$48 million (7
million after-tax attributable to Enbridge), before insurance recoveries and excluding fines and penaities.
These costs inciuded emergency response, environmental remediation and cleanup activities with the
crude oil release. EEP is pursuing recovery of the costs associated with the Line 8A crude oil reiease
from third parties; however, there can be no assurance that any such recovery will be obtained.
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Insurance Recoveries

EEPR is included in the comprehensive insurance program that is maintained hy Enbyridge for its
subsidiaries and affiliates which renews throughout the year. On May 1 of each year, EEP’s insurance
program is up for renewal and includes commercial liability insurance coverage that is consistent with
coverage considered customary for its industry and includes covarage for environmental incidents such
as those incurred for the crude oil releases from Lines 8A and 6B, excluding costs for fines and penalties.

The claims for the crude oil release for Line 6B are covered by Enbridge’s comprehensive insurance
policy that expired on April 30, 2011, which had an aggregate limit of US$650 million for pollution liability.
Based on EEP's remediation spending through December 31, 2013, Enbridge and its affiliates have
exceeded the iimits of their coverage under this insurance policy. Additionally, fines and penalties would
not be covered under the existing insurance policy. For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012,
EEP recognized US$42 million ($6 million after-tax attributable to Enbridge) and US$170 million ($24
million after-tax attributable to Enbridge), respectively, of insurance recoveries as reductions to
Environmental costs in the Consolidated Statements of Eamings. As at December 31, 2013, EEP has
recorded total insurance recoveries of US$547 miltion ($80 million after-tax aftributable to Enbridge) for
the Line 68 crude oil release, out of the US$650 million aggregate limit. EEP will record receivables for
additional amounts it claims for recovery pursuant to its insurance policies during the pariod it deems
recovery to be probable. In March 2013, the Company filed a lawsduit against ane insurar who is disputing
recovery eligibility for Line 68 costs. While the Company believes outstanding claims are covered undar
the policy, there can be no assurance that the Company will prevail in this lawsuit.

Effective May 1, 2013, Enbridge renswed its comprehensive property and liability insurance programs,
under which EEP is insured through Aprit 30, 2014, with a current liability aggregate limit of US3685
million, including sudden and accidental pollution liability. In the unlikely event multiple insurable incidents
occur which exceed coverage limits within the same insurance period, the total insurance coverage will
be allocated among the Enbridge entities on an equitable basis based on an insurance aliccation
agreement EEP has entered into with Enbridge and another Enbridge subsidiary.

Legal and Regulatory Proceedings

A number of United States governmental agencies and regutators have initiated investigations into the
Lines BA and 6B crude oil releases. Approximately 30 actions or claims are pending against Enbridge,
EEP or their affiliates in United States federal and state courts in connection with the Line 68 crude oil
retease, including direct actions and actions seeking class status. Based on the current status of thess
cases, the Company does not expect the outcome of these actions to be material.

As at December 31, 2013, included in EEP’s estimated costs related to the Line 6B crude oil release is
US$30 million in fines and penaities. Of this amount, US$3.7 million related to civil penaities assessed by
PHMSA that EEP paid during the third quarter of 2012. The total also included an amount of US$22
million related to civil penalties EEP expects to be required to pay under the Clean Water Act. While no
final fine or penalty has been assessed or agreed o date, BEP believes that, based on the best
information available at this time, the US$22 million represents an estimate of the minimum amount which
may be assessed, excluding costs of injunctive relisf, if any, that may be agreed to with the relsvant
governmentai agencies. Given the complexity of settlement negotiations, which EEP expects will
continue, and the limited information available to assess the matter, EEP is unable to reasonably estimate
the final penalty which might be incurred or to reasonably estimate a range of cutcomas at this time.
Discussions with governmental agencies regarding fines and penalties are ongoing.

One claim related to Line 6A crude oil release has been filed against Enbridge, EEP or their affiliates by
the State of lllinois in the Hlinois state court in connection with this crude oil release, and the parties are
currently operating under an agreed interim order.

TAX MATTERS

Enbridge and its subsidiaries maintain tax liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. While fuily
supportable in the Company’s view, these tax positions, if challenged by tax authorities, may not be fully
sustained on review,
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OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY PROCEEDINGS

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to various other legai and regulatory actions and
proceedings which arise in the normal course of business, including interventions in regulatory
proceedings and challenges to regulatory approvals and permits by special interest groups. While the
final outcome of such actions and proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, Management believes
that the resolution of such actions and proceedings will not have a material impact on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of operations.

30. GUARANTEES

The Company has agreed to indemnify EEP from and against substantially all liabilities, including
liabilities relating to environmental matters, arising from operations prior to the transfer of its pipeline
operations to EEBP in 1891. This indemnification does not apply to amounts that BE® would be able to
recover in its tariff rates if not recovered through insurance or to any liabilities relating to a change in laws
after December 27, 1991,

The Company has aiso agreed to indemnify EBM for any tax liability related to EEM’s formation,
management of EEP and ownership of i-units of EEP. The Company has not made any significant
payment under these tax indemnifications. The Company does not heliave there is a material exposure at
this tims,

The Company has also agreed to indemnify the Fund for certain liabilities relating to environmental
matters arising from operations prior to the transfer of certain ¢rude oil storage assets to the Fund in
2012.

In the normai course of conducting business, the Company enters into agreements which indemnify third
parties. Examples include indemnifying counterparties pursuant to sale agreements for assets or
businesses in matters such as breaches of representations, warranties or covenants, loss or damages to
property, environmental liabilities, changes in laws, valuation differences, litigation and contingent
liabilities. The Company may indemnify the purchaser for certain tax liabilities incurred while the Company
owned the assets or for @ misrepresentation refated to taxes that result in a loss to the purchaser.
Similarly, the Company may indemnify the purchaser of assets for certain tax liabilities related to those
assets.

The Company cannot reasonably estimate the maximum potential amounts that could become payabie to
third parties under these agreements; howeaver, historically, the Company has not made any significant
payments under indemnification provisions. While these agreements may specify a maximum potential
exposure, or a specified duration to the indemnification obligation, there are circumstances where the
amount and duration are unlimited. The indemnifications and guarantees have not had, and are not
reasonably likely to have, a material effect on the Company’s financial condition, changes in financial
condition, earnings, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
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